

# Mechanisms of echinocandin resistance in Candida species

### Morgana Inês Vieira de Oliveira e Castro

Thesis to obtain the Master of Science Degree in

# **Biological Engineering**

Supervisors:

Dr. Anna Brillowska-Dąbrowska Prof. Dr. Miguel Nobre Parreira Cacho Teixeira

### **Examination Committee:**

Chairperson: Prof. Dr. Jorge Humberto Gomes Leitão Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Miguel Nobre Parreira Cacho Teixeira Member of the Committee: Dr. Pedro Henrique Magalhães Fernandes Pais

October 2019

ii

# Declaration

I declare that this document is an original work of my own authorship and that it fulfills all the requirements of the Code of Conduct and Good Practices of the Universidade de Lisboa.

# Preface

The work presented in this thesis was performed at the Department of Microbiology of Gdansk University of Technology (Gdansk, Poland), during the period February-June 2019, under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Anna Brillowska-Dąbrowska, and within the frame of the Erasmus programme. The thesis was co-supervised at Instituto Superior Técnico by Prof. Dr. Miguel Teixeira.

# Acknowledgements

The process of writing this thesis has been one of the biggest challenges of my life. It was a product of five years of hard work and sacrifice, involving people without whom I would not have made it.

Firstly, I would like to thank my family. My parents, my brother, my grandparents and my aunts and uncles. The financial help was significant and crucial but the unconditional emotional support and love for me during these crazy years was what always kept me going and that brought me to this point. Everything I am and everything I will be is, in its greatest part, thanks to them.

I want to thank my closest friends, Catarina, Joana, Manuel, Maria, Mariana, Marta, Sara, Sérgio and Tomás, for all the days and nights studying endlessly, for listening to my breakdowns, for making me take breaks and have fun, for lending me notes and helping me with my work, for supporting me, taking care of me and showing me what having a second family and a home away from home truly looks and feels like. They have made me so much better than I ever thought I could be and gave me strength when I didn't know where to find it.

I want to thank my friends and colleagues in Gdańsk: Paweł Wityk, Martyna Mroczyńska and Weronika Grąźlewska, who always answered my questions, helped and accompanied me in my experiences and made sure that life in the laboratory was not dull but always positive and fun. This thesis could not have happened without them.

Last but not least, I would like to thank Dr. Anna Brillowska-Dąbrowska for giving me the opportunity to work in her laboratory in Gdańsk University of Technology and Prof. Dr. Miguel Nobre Parreira Cacho Teixeira for his guidance, for following up on my work and for always making himself available to revise this thesis and answer all my questions. I would also like to thank the remaining thesis jury members, Prof. Dr. Jorge Humberto Gomes Leitão and Dr. Pedro Henrique Magalhães Fernandes Pais who graciously accepted the invitation to be part of the examination committee.

O que tem que ser, tem muita força.

Morgana Vieira de Oliveira e Castro

vi

# Contents

Acknowledgements	V
List of figures	ix
List of tables	xiii
Acronyms	xv
Abstract	xvii
Resumo	xix
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Thesis Outline	1
1.2. Emergence of Candida species	1
1.2.1. C. albicans	3
1.2.2. C. glabrata	3
1.2.3. C. krusei	3
1.2.4. C. parapsilosis	4
1.2.5. C. palmioleophila	4
1.2.6. C. inconspicua	4
1.3. Antifungal drugs	5
1.3.1. Antifungal susceptibility	8
1.3.2. Mechanisms of antifungal resistance	9
1.3.3. Echinocandin resistance mechanisms	
1.4. Susceptibility of <i>Candida</i> spp. in Poland	
1.5. Cell wall of Candida spp. as a target for antifungal research	
1.5.1. FKS gene and upregulation of genes encoding cell wall proteins	
2. Materials and Methods	
2.1. Strains	
2.2. Antifungal susceptibility assays in Candida spp	
2.2.1. Medium	
2.2.2. Stock solutions	
2.2.3. Working solutions	
2.2.4. Microdilution plates	
2.2.5. Inoculation of microdilution plates	
2.2.6. Incubation and reading results of microdilution plates	
2.2.7. Quality control	
2.3. Genotyping and PCR fingerprinting	
2.3.1. DNA isolation	
2.3.2. PCR reaction	
2.3.3. Medium	
2.3.4. Production and purification of the pUC19 plasmid	20
2.3.5. Ligation and transformation	20
2.3.6. Cloning and sequencing	21

2.4. Quantitative Real Time RT-PCR	22
2.4.1. Inoculation and incubation	22
2.4.2. RNA isolation	23
2.4.3. Reverse transcription of mRNA to cDNA	23
2.4.4. Real time PCR	23
2.4.5. Relative quantification: Livak's method	24
3. Results and Discussion	27
3.1. Susceptibility of Candida spp	27
3.2. Identification PCR patterns and sequencing of discriminatory bands	29
3.2.1. Patterns obtained for tested Candida spp	29
3.2.2. Discriminatory band sequencing	35
3.3. Expression level analysis for CHS1, PST1, CWP1 and CWP2 genes	37
4. Conclusions and Perspectives	45
5. References	47
6. Appendix	53

## List of figures

Figure 3 – Adapted from Danièle Maubon et al, 2014. Targets and mechanisms of action of systemic antifungal drugs. Sites and modes of action of the current classes of systemic antifungal drugs used to treat invasive candidiasis. a) Echinocandins target cell wall synthesis, inhibiting (1,3)- $\beta$ -D-glucan synthesis, which occurs on the inner side of the plasma membrane. b) Azoles target the ergosterol biosynthesis pathway in the endoplasmic reticulum. They block 14- $\alpha$ -demethylase, resulting in ergosterol depletion in the membrane and activation of the *Erg3p* alternative pathway, leading to the synthesis of toxic sterols. c) Polyenes bind to cell membrane ergosterol creating pores and aggregate, to act as a "sponge", thus resulting in ion depletion. d) Flucytosine acts in the nucleus, where its toxic metabolites inhibit nucleic acid synthesis (54)......7

Figure 6 – Adapted from Danièle Maubon et al, 2014. Molecular mechanisms of echinocandin and azole resistance in *Candida* species a) Regular (1,3)- $\beta$ -glucan synthesis on the inner side of the fungal membrane. b) Typical echinocandin activity. These compounds block cell wall synthesis by inhibiting the *FKS* subunit of the (1,3)- $\beta$ -glucan synthase. c) Echinocandin resistance due to *FKS* mutations. The target enzyme is less sensitive to echinocandins, allowing the production of (1,3)- $\beta$ -glucans. d) Typical ergosterol synthesis at the endoplasmic reticulum and uptake of azole antifungal drugs into the cytosol of the fungal cell. e) Typical azole activity. These molecules inhibit the lanosterol-14a-demethylase (*Erg11p*), leading to (1) membrane ergosterol depletion and (2) the production of toxic sterols via *Erg3p*. f) Azole resistance due to (1) the overproduction of transporters, increasing azole efflux, (2) alteration of the target enzyme by mutations of *ERG11*, (3) *Erg11p* overproduction, (4) mutations of *ERG3* preventing the azole mediated production of toxic sterols which are substituted by the non-toxic fecosterol (54). ......11

Figure 15 – Boxed bands in red represent the genes of interest chosen that were used in the cloning process from Figures 10 and 12. Lanes: 1 - C. krusei 9 and interest bands A and B; 2 - C. palmioleophila 4 and interest bands A

Figure 24 – Plot of relative CHS1, PST1, CWP1 and CWP2 gene expression versus MIC (mg/L) values for MCF for	or C.
palmioleophila 4, 368, 370; C. krusei 102; and C. albicans 395, 1010, 2023, 2029 isolates. Gene transcript levels	were
normalized against ACT1 transcript levels. C. albicans 2023 was used as calibrator.	43

# List of tables

Table 1 - Primer A ( <i>TRP</i> gene), B ( <i>HSP</i> gene) and C ( <i>FKS</i> gene) sequences used for PCR fingerprinting
Table 2 – Stages of PCR and respective temperature (°C), hold (s), number of cycles and brief description19
Table 3 – Stages of real time RT-qPCR and respective temperature (°C), hold (s), change in temperature from one
PCR step to another over time (ramp, °C/s) and number of cycles24
Table 4 – CLSI breakpoints for C. albicans, C. krusei and C. glabrata regarding echinocandins: anidulafungin (AND),    caspofungin (CSP) and micafungin (MCF) (141).
Table 5 – Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) distributions for anidulafungin (AND), caspofungin (CSP) and
micafungin (MCF) for 21 C. albicans, 2 C. glabrata, 1 C. insconspicua, 1 C. krusei and 5 C. palmioleophila isolates. The
CLSI breakpoint classification is attributed to each respective MIC and isolate (S: Susceptible; R: Resistant)
Table 6 – Types of patterns obtained for different strains of <i>C. albicans</i> following PCR fingerprinting with primer C.
Table 7 – ACT1 gene expression. $C_T$ average values and respective standard deviation for C. palmioleophila 4, 368,
370; C. krusei 102; and C. albicans 395, 1010, 2023, 2029
Table 8 – CHS1 gene expression using C. albicans 2023 as a calibrator. Livak's method parameters: C <sub>T</sub> average values
and respective standard deviation; $\Delta C_T$ reference values; $\Delta C_T$ calibrator values; $\Delta \Delta C_T$ values; R values; $\log_2(R)$ values
that translate in expression level, for <i>C. palmioleophila</i> 4, 368, 370; <i>C. krusei</i> 102; and <i>C. albicans</i> 395, 1010, 2023, 2029
Table 9 – <i>PST1</i> gene expression using <i>C. albicans</i> 2023 as a calibrator. Livak's method parameters: C <sub>T</sub> average values
and respective standard deviation; $\Delta C_T$ reference values; $\Delta C_T$ calibrator values; $\Delta \Delta C_T$ values; R values; $\log_2(R)$ values
that translate in expression level, for C. palmioleophila 4, 368, 370; C. krusei 102; and C. albicans 395, 1010, 2023,
2029
Table 10 – <i>CWP1</i> gene expression using <i>C. albicans</i> 2023 as a calibrator. Livak's method parameters: C <sub>T</sub> average values
and respective standard deviation; $\Delta C_T$ reference values; $\Delta C_T$ calibrator values; $\Delta \Delta C_T$ values; R values; $\log_2(R)$ values
that translate in expression level, for C. palmioleophila 4, 368, 370; C. krusei 102; and C. albicans 395, 1010, 2023,
2029
Table 11 - CWP2 gene expression using C. albicans 2023 as a calibrator. Livak's method parameters: C⊤ average values
and respective standard deviation; $\Delta C_T$ reference values; $\Delta C_T$ calibrator values; $\Delta \Delta C_T$ values; R values; log <sub>2</sub> (R) values
that translate in expression level, for C. palmioleophila 4, 368, 370; C. krusei 102; and C. albicans 395, 1010, 2023,
2029

Table 12 ·	– Complete list o	of isolates tested in se	ection 3.2 and their	respective MIC value	s53

### Acronyms

- μL Microliters AFST – Antifungal susceptibility testing AMP - Ampicillin AND – Anidulafungin C. albicans – Candida albicans C. glabrata – Candida glabrata C. inconspicua – Candida inconspicua C. krusei – Candida krusei C. palmioleophila – Candida palmioleophila C. parapsilosis – Candida parapsilosis C. tropicalis – Candida tropicalis CaCl<sub>2</sub> – Calcium chloride Candida spp. – Candida species cDNA - Complementary Desoxirribonucleic Acid CLSI - Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute CSP – Caspofungin CT - Threshold cycle DMSO - Dimethyl Sulfoxide dNTP - Deoxynucleotide Triphosphates E. coli – Escherichia coli ESCMID – European Society for Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases EUCAST – European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing FLPs - Flavodoxin-Like Proteins h – Hours HIV – Human Immunodeficiency Virus IDSA - Infectious Diseases Society of America IPTG – Isopropyl-β-D-thiogalactoside KCI – Potassium chloride LA - Lysogeny broth with agar LB - Lysogeny broth MCF - Micafungin MDR – Multidrug Resistance MgCl<sub>2</sub> – Magnesium chloride MIC - Minimum Inhibitory Concentration min – Minutes
- mL Millilitres

mM – Millimoles NaHCO<sub>3</sub> – Sodium bicarbonate OD – optical density OD<sub>600</sub> – Optical Densitometry at 600 nm PCR – Polymerase Chain Reaction RNase – Ribonuclease Rpm – Revolution Per Minute RT-qPCR – Quantitative Real Time Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction *S. cerevisiae – Saccharomyces cerevisiae* TET – Tetracycline UV – Ultraviolet

V – Volts

X-gal – 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-galactopyranoside

## Abstract

Echinocandins are antifungals used against Candida infections and resistant strains have been emerging. Among these strains are Candida albicans and non-albicans. Given the widespread use of echinocandins, it is important to study how resistance mechanisms act and evolve. Antifungal susceptibility tests for echinocandins were performed for 29 isolates of Candida species. Two resistant isolates were obtained, Candida krusei (4 mg/L MIC for the three echinocandins) and Candida glabrata (0.5 mg/L MIC for anidulafungin and caspofungin and 1 mg/L for micafungin) and two isolates of Candida inconspicua and Candida palmioleophila with high MIC values of 4 mg/L for the three echinocandins, something that had not been previously reported. Resistance to echinocandins is based on the occurrence of point mutations of the FKS gene. PCR identification using a single primer for the FKS gene was performed to obtain multilocal patterns that would allow quick identification. A total of 70 isolates of Candida species were tested. It was possible to obtain identifiable patterns for Candida albicans, Candida palmioleophila and Candida krusei. The last two presented different patterns according to their susceptibility to echinocandins. The genes CHS1, PST1, CWP1, and CWP2 encoding cell wall proteins, possibly upregulated when there are alterations in the FKS1 gene, were investigated for 8 Candida isolates. Upregulation of all genes was verified for one susceptible isolate of Candida albicans and two resistant isolates of Candida palmioleophila and Candida krusei, pointing to a possible alteration in the FKS1 gene of these isolates. In general results have shown that amongst Candida species, there are important connections between cell wall dynamics and resistance to antifungal drugs. It is important to continue to try to understand how the mechanisms of resistance and the cellular responses to maintain cell wall integrity work in order to develop new strategies to fight these infections.

**Keywords:** *Candida albicans*, non-*albicans Candida* species, antifungal drug resistance, echinocandins, PCR fingerprinting, real time PCR, *FKS* gene

### Resumo

Equinocandinas são antifúngicos usados contra infeções provocadas pelo fungo Candida, no entanto, cada vez mais, têm sido identificados isolados resistentes pertencentes a espécies de Candida albicans e não-albicans. Dado o uso generalizado de equinocandinas, é importante verificar como agem e evoluem os mecanismos de resistência. Testes de suscetibilidade antifúngica às equinocandinas foram realizados para 29 isolados da espécie Candida. Foram obtidos dois isolados resistentes, Candida krusei (CIM de 4 mg/L para as três equinocandinas) e Candida glabrata (CIM de 0,5 mg/L para anidulafungina e caspofungina e 1 mg/L para micafungina) e dois isolados de Candida inconspicua e Candida palmioleophila com valores elevados de CIM de 4 mg/L para as três equinocandinas, algo que não havia sido previamente observado. A resistência às equinocandinas baseia-se na ocorrência de mutações pontuais do gene FKS. Foi realizada a identificação por PCR usando um único primer para o gene FKS para obter padrões que permitissem a identificação rápida das espécies testadas. Um total de 70 isolados de Candida foram testados. Foi possível obter padrões identificáveis para Candida albicans, Candida palmioleophila e Candida krusei. Os dois últimos apresentaram padrões diferentes de acordo com a suscetibilidade às equinocandinas. Os genes que codificam para proteínas da parede celular CHS1, PST1, CWP1 e CWP2, possivelmente regulados positivamente quando existem alterações no gene FKS1, foram investigados para 8 isolados de Candida. A regulação positiva de todos os genes foi verificada para um isolado suscetível de Candida albicans e dois isolados resistentes de Candida palmioleophila e Candida krusei, apontando para uma possível alteração no gene FKS1 destes isolados. Em geral, os resultados mostraram que, entre as espécies de Candida, existem importantes conexões entre a dinâmica da parede celular e a resistência a medicamentos antifúngicos. É importante continuar a tentar entender como funcionam os mecanismos de resistência e as respostas celulares para manter a integridade da parede celular, com o objetivo de desenvolver novas estratégias para combater estas infeções.

**Palavras-chave:** *Candida albicans*, espécies não-*albicans* de *Candida*, resistência a drogas antifúngicas, equinocandinas, identificação por PCR, PCR em tempo real, gene *FKS* 

# 1. Introduction

### 1.1. Thesis Outline

This dissertation is organized in four chapters.

The first chapter offers an overview on the increasing frequency of non-*albicans Candida* species, followed by some insight into the currently used families of antifungal drugs in clinical practice, together with their modes of action. Special attention is given to echinocandins, one of the main families of drugs presently used, with information concerning modes of action and its resistance mechanisms, point mutation in the *FKS* gene. Insight about how these mutations affect the cell wall and cell wall gene expression is also discussed.

The second chapter contains all the materials and methods used during the fulfilment of this work.

The third chapter describes the results attained with this study, first for antifungal susceptibility testing to identify *Candida* strains (*albicans* and non-*albicans*) that are resistant or susceptible to echinocandins. It further comprises the analysis of PCR fingerprinting for *Candida* albicans, *Candida* glabrata, *Candida* palmioleophila, *Candida* parapsilosis and *Candida* inconspicua and discusses the identified patterns in terms of their connection to each species and susceptibility phenotypes. Finally, it analyses the expression level of cell wall genes in three species of *Candida* and discusses the possible connection between the expression levels and alteration of the *FKS* gene.

In the fourth chapter, the results obtained with this project are discussed and compared with the current knowledge about echinocandin resistant mechanisms.

In the fifth and last chapter, final remarks considering the work developed and future perspectives are made, together with references to what contributions this work offered in the comprehension of acquired resistance mechanisms to echinocandins in *Candida* species.

### 1.2. Emergence of Candida species

*Candida* is a genus of yeasts and one of the most common cause of fungal infections worldwide. These microorganisms are small  $(3-5 \mu m)$  (1) and they reproduce by budding (2). These yeasts can be seen microscopically in the form of yeasts, pseudo-hyphae (budding cells that do not separate), or true hyphae (multicellular organisms) (Figure 1) (3). *Candida* spp. belong to the class *Ascomycetes*, order *Saccharomycetales*, and family *Saccharomycetes*.



Figure 1 – Adapted from British Society of Immunology. The three morphological forms of *Candida albicans*. Yeast (1) are small, round cells that divide by conventional cell division. True hyphae (3) are elongated cells that do not separate following cell division and are separated by specialised septa that allow passage of cytoplasm and other components between compartments. Pseudohyphae (2) are less elongated hyphae which are more constricted at septa than true hyphae. Pictures courtesy of Simon Vautier (4).

*Candida* spp. are normal flora of the human body and they exist as commensals of the skin, mouth and gastrointestinal tract. Their growth and spread are controlled by coexisting microbial flora, intact epithelial barriers, and innate immune system defences (5).

These yeasts possess the ability to act as pathogens that cause a wide spectrum of conditions, ranging from superficial infections to life-threatening systemic infections. The presence of candidemia results in an increase in mortality and hospital length of stay, making *Candida* not only a clinical concern but an economic concern as well (6). It is estimated that fungal diseases, in the US, costed more than \$7.2 billion in 2017. Hospitalizations for *Candida* infections (n = 26 735, total cost \$1.4 billion) and *Aspergillus* infections (n = 14 820, total cost \$1.2 billion) accounted for the highest total hospitalization costs of any disease (7).

The incidence of fungal infections caused by *Candida* spp. has increased dramatically during the last decades. This is mainly due to the rise in number of immunocompromised patients (8). *Candida* infections are derived from the individual's own endogenous reservoir (9) when the host presents certain risk factors such as immunosuppressive and cytotoxic therapies, treatment with broad spectrum antibacterial antibiotics, AIDS, diabetes and drug abuse. *Candida* spp. are responsible for 8% to 10% of nosocomial bloodstream infections (10) and mortality due to systemic candidiasis remains high (46% to 75% for *C. albicans* alone) (11).

There are over 150 heterogeneous species included in the *Candida* genus (12). *C. albicans* is the most common cause of infection, but there have been increased numbers of isolations of non-*albicans* species of *Candida* in recent years, with the most prominent being *Candida* glabrata, *Candida* parapsilosis, *Candida* tropicalis, and *Candida* krusei. These species are the five more common and together they account for 92–95% of all cases of *Candida* infection (13). And while this still holds true, there has been a shift in the species distribution among *Candida* infections. Other species of *Candida* are also emerging, and they are called rare yeasts. This term is used for a category of ascomycetous yeasts that have low incidence (1% of clinical *Candida* infections) and present high minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) values for at least one class of antifungals. There's lack of susceptibility data thanks

to the limited clinical experience. Consequently, infections caused by these rare fungal pathogens are linked to high mortality and therapeutic failure (14). Examples of these non-*albicans* species are *Candida palmioleophila* and *Candida inconspicua*. The rise in the non-*albicans Candida* spp. is possibly due to their high levels of intrinsic antifungal drug resistance, but it is also possible that improvements to laboratory detection and identification may provide more specific identification than in the past and account for emergence of less common species (6).

#### 1.2.1. C. albicans

*C. albicans* is the most prevalent fungal species of the human microbiota. This species colonizes many areas of the body, particularly the gastrointestinal and genitourinary tracts of healthy individuals (15). It can cause diseases ranging from mucosal to systemic infections. The ability of this highly adaptable yeast to transition from commensal to pathogen is due to a range of virulence factors. Specifically, the ability to switch morphology and form biofilms are properties central to its pathogenesis. In fact, the majority of *C. albicans* infections are associated with biofilm formation on human tissue or abiotic surfaces such as implanted medical devices, which carry high morbidity and mortality (16) (17). Unfortunately, current numbers don't reflect the true extent of damage caused by this yeast given that there have been recent reports indicating that *C. albicans* can cross the blood/brain barrier (18) (19). Nevertheless, given its extensive characterization over the years, *C. albicans* is commonly used as a model organism for microbiology.

#### 1.2.2. C. glabrata

*C. glabrata* is responsible for up to 29% of total *Candida* bloodstream infections (20) (21). It is the second most common bloodstream *Candida* spp. in the US and the Northern Europe (20) (22) (23) and the third or fourth in Asia (24) (23) (25). Bloodstream infections caused by *C. glabrata* are more common in the elderly, diabetic patients and organ transplant recipients. *C. glabrata* can also cause vaginal and urinary tract infections (26) (27). *C. glabrata* is significantly less pathogenic than *C. albicans*. The lack of invasive hyphal forms, secreted proteolytic activity and invasins, and limited nutrient plasticity are likely to contribute to its low pathogenicity (28). The treatment of infections caused by this yeast remains a challenge given that *C. glabrata* presents high levels of intrinsic and acquired resistance to azole antifungals, especially due to overexpression of multidrug resistance transporters (29) (30).

#### 1.2.3. C. krusei

*C. krusei* has been described as a causative agent of disseminated fungal infections in susceptible patients, resulting in the lowest 90-day survival rates (53.6%) among common *Candida* spp. (31). It is a well-known fungal pathogen for patients with hematologic malignancies and for transplant recipients (32). Although the prevalence of *C. krusei* remains low (2%) among yeast infections (31), it attracts much medical attention because it is intrinsically resistant

to fluconazole. In addition, *C. krusei* exhibits resistance to other antifungal drugs such as voriconazole, echinocandins, and amphotericin B (33).

#### 1.2.4. C. parapsilosis

*C. parapsilosis* is an evolving major human pathogen that over the past two decades has increased dramatically in importance and incidence. It is one of the most isolated *Candida* spp. from blood cultures in Europe, Canada and Latin America, and is more prevalent than *C. albicans* in some European hospitals. It has been associated with disease in humans such as endocarditis, meningitis, septicemia, peritonitis, arthritis, endophthalmitis, keratitis, otitis, cystitis, and skin infections. Individuals at the highest risk for severe infection include neonates and patients in intensive care units. Factors involved in disease pathogenesis include the secretion of hydrolytic enzymes, adhesion to prosthetics, and biofilm formation (34).

#### 1.2.5. C. palmioleophila

*C. palmioleophila*, formerly known as *Torulopsis candida*, is an ascomycetous lipolytic yeast related to *Candida famata* and *Candida saitoana* (35). It has been misdiagnosed as *C. famata* or *Candida guilliermondii* but in contrast to these species, *C. palmioleophila* displays a unique susceptibility profile. Available data shows that clinical isolates of *C. palmioleophila* have been shown to be highly susceptible to echinocandins and less susceptible to azoles, especially to fluconazole to which this species has shown resistance (36). As a pathogenic fungus, there are reports of endogenous fungal endophthalmitis by *C. palmioleophila*. Ocular candidiasis complicates candidemia at a rate of approximately 2 to 26% (37).

There are few reports describing the biochemical and physiological characteristics of *C. palmioleophila*, but the available information suggests a high potential of this yeast as bioremediation agent of effluents contaminated with fats and oils. A study reported the isolation and characterization of native strains of *C. palmioleophila*, that showed high lipolytic activity, from solid and liquid wastes of a palm oil refining process. These were capable to successfully assimilate and degrade up to 79% of palm oil (38). Another study also reported that a consortium of several strains of *C. palmioleophila* degraded more efficiently palm oil, up to 84%, than individual strains. The consortium was successfully used for the bioremediation of Palm Oil Mild Effluents (39). The specific enzyme mechanisms and metabolic pathways used by *C. palmioleophila* to degrade oil are not yet described but lipases and esterases are most likely involved in the first steps of this process (35). *C. palmioleophila* may also have a practical application in the biotransformation of various dye effluents because of high decolorizing activity against various azo dyes commonly used in the textile industries (40).

#### 1.2.6. C. inconspicua

*C. inconspicua* is an emerging pathogenic, very rarely isolated from patients. It is phylogenetically related to *Pichia norvegensis* and *C. krusei*. It presents fluconazole resistance and low susceptibility to itraconazole and posaconazole

(14). It has also showed intermediate resistance to flucytosine and *in-vitro* drug susceptibility tests showed susceptibility to amphotericin B (41) (42) (43) (44) (14). Another study has also described *C. inconspicua* as susceptible to echinocandins (45).



Figure 2 – Phylogenetic tree representing mainly the evolutionary relationships between *Candida* species. Adapted from Stephanie Diezmann et al, 2004. Marked with arrows for species contemplated in this study. *Candida palmioleophila* and *Candida inconspicua* were added and their probable position in the tree is based on the known phylogenetic relations of these species (46).

## 1.3. Antifungal drugs

Antifungal therapy is a central component of patient management for *Candida* infections. They can be treated using four main drug classes: azoles, polyenes, pyrimidine analogues and echinocandins (Figure 3).

Polyene drugs consist primarily of amphotericin B and nystatin. The primary mode of their antifungal activity results from binding to ergosterol, a component of the cell membrane. This binding forms channels in the cell membrane,

altering its permeability and causing leakage of sodium, potassium, and hydrogen ions, which disrupts the proton gradient and results in cell death. Polyenes also bind to a lesser extent to cholesterol of mammalian plasma membrane, which accounts for most of the toxicity associated with their use (47) (48).

Flucytosine is converted to an antimetabolite, 5-fluorouracil, selectively in fungal cells by cytosine deaminase. This antimetabolite competes with uracil for incorporation into fungal RNA and it is metabolised to compounds that inhibit enzymes involved in DNA synthesis. Selective toxicity for fungus is achieved with flucytosine because mammalian cells do not take up the drug or convert it to 5-fluorouracil. Flucytosine is normally used in combination with amphotericin B, which appears to increase fungal uptake of flucytosine and result in synergistic effects against certain fungal diseases. The use of flucytosine can be toxic at a hepatic level which can many times limit its use (49).

Allylamines inhibit the enzyme squalene epoxidase which is important in the synthesis of ergosterol. The accumulation of squalene turns the cell membrane deficient in ergosterol. The resulting ergosterol depletion and toxic squalene accumulation affect cell membrane structure and function, eventually leading to inhibition of growth and to cell death (50).

Azoles are one of the most broadly used antifungal drug classes and inhibit ergosterol biosynthesis by targeting lanosterol 14- $\alpha$ -sterol demethylase, encoded by the *ERG11* gene in yeasts. This enzyme participates in the conversion of lanosterol to ergosterol, the latter being involved in the cell membrane integrity. By inhibiting the lanosterol 14- $\alpha$ -sterol demethylase, azoles induce the accumulation of a toxic sterol compound, disturbing the cell membrane, leading to growth inhibition and cell death (51).

Echinocandins are recommended by the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the European Society for Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases as the first-line empirical treatment for invasive candidiasis. They are in widespread clinical use because of the efficacy demonstrated by this antifungal agent (52). Echinocandins specifically inhibit the biosynthesis of the fungal-specific enzyme (1,3)- $\beta$ -D-glucan synthase, and (1,3)- $\beta$ -D-glucan is a major structural component of fungal cell walls. This enzyme inhibition leads to the formation of fungal cell walls with impaired structural integrity, which finally results in cell vulnerability to osmotic lysis. All three agents, caspofungin (CSP), micafungin (MCF), and anidulafungin (AND), exhibit concentration-dependent fungicidal activity against most species of *Candida* (Figure 4). These antifungals have generally favourable safety and tolerability profiles with adequate pharmacokinetics and few drug interactions. The use of echinocandins for prophylaxis and treatment has been expanding, and more than 60% of candidemia patients are now reported to receive an echinocandin (53).



Figure 3 – Adapted from Danièle Maubon et al, 2014. Targets and mechanisms of action of systemic antifungal drugs. Sites and modes of action of the current classes of systemic antifungal drugs used to treat invasive candidiasis. a) Echinocandins target cell wall synthesis, inhibiting (1,3)- $\beta$ -D-glucan synthesis, which occurs on the inner side of the plasma membrane. b) Azoles target the ergosterol biosynthesis pathway in the endoplasmic reticulum. They block 14- $\alpha$ -demethylase, resulting in ergosterol depletion in the membrane and activation of the Erg3p alternative pathway, leading to the synthesis of toxic sterols. c) Polyenes bind to cell membrane ergosterol creating pores and aggregate, to act as a "sponge", thus resulting in ion depletion. d) Flucytosine acts in the nucleus, where its toxic metabolites inhibit nucleic acid synthesis (54).



Figure 4 – Adapted from Daniel Aguilar-Zapata et al, 2015. Chemical structure of echinocandins. A) Caspofungin:  $C_{52}H_{88}N_{10}O_{15}$ × 2  $C_2H_4O_2$ ; molecular weight = 1213.4. B) Micafungin:  $C_{56}H_{71}N_9O_{23}S$ ; molecular weight = 1292.26. C) Anidulafungin:  $C_{58}H_{73}N_7O_{17}$ ; molecular weight = 1140.2 (55).

#### 1.3.1. Antifungal susceptibility

High rates of morbidity and mortality associated with fungal infections have to do with the current limited antifungal agents and the high toxicity of those compounds. Since there are many similarities between fungal and human cells it is difficult to identify novel drug targets (56). Not only this but treatment of yeast infections is further compromised by the rise of antifungal drug resistance. Evolution of multidrug resistant organisms is the most concerning, especially among common Candida species. Therapeutic failure relates to clinical resistance in which, at a normal dose, a patient fails to react to an antifungal agent. Antifungal resistance development is complex and is dependent on numerous host and yeast variables (57). The host immune system status is a critical factor because antifungal drugs must operate synergistically to regulate and clear an infection. The likeliness of therapeutic failure is higher for patients with severe immune dysfunction due to the fact that the antifungal drug must act alone without an immune system response (58). The existence of medical and surgical devices can also lead to resistant infections, as infectious organisms can create biofilms by attaching themselves to these objects and therefore withstand drug action. To guarantee an appropriate treatment it is necessary that each drug reaches the infection site at the appropriate concentration that is sufficient for antifungal action. Although the pharmacokinetics of many drugs are characterized there is limited scientific data of drug penetration in all sites of infection. Some microorganisms are therefore subjected to drugs at suboptimal levels and this leads to cells that persist during treatment. This results in endogenous reservoirs that originate new infections. All these factors contribute to resistance, which refers to the selection of strains that can proliferate despite exposure to therapeutic levels of antifungals. During treatment, such strains contribute considerably to drug failure (59) (60) (61). Resistant strains can be divided in two categories, they are either primary resistant strains that are inherently less prone to a specified antifungal agent or secondary resistant strains that attain a resistance feature following drug exposure in an otherwise sensitive strain. The molecular mechanisms involved in secondary resistance are often expressed at various levels in primary resistant strains (62).

To determine the occurrence of resistance to antifungal agents, the quantification of antifungal susceptibility has been standardized using different protocols. Antifungal susceptibility testing (AFST) is performed on yeast causing disease, especially if the infection is invasive, relapsing or failing therapy, when inherent or acquired resistance is a possibility or when susceptibility cannot reliably be predicted from the species identification alone. AFST is also important for resistance surveillance, epidemiological studies and for comparison of the in vitro activity of new and existing agents (63). MICs are defined as the lowest drug concentration resulting in a significant reduction of growth (usually either 50% or 90% reduction compared with growth in the absence of the drug). This is the reference method for AFST, and its mainly used to: establish the activity of new antifungal agents, confirm the susceptibility of organisms that give equivocal results in other test formats and to determine the susceptibility of organisms where other test formats may be unreliable or not yet validated. Data from these studies has been used to determine MIC breakpoints, which are MICs at which an organism should be considered susceptible, intermediate, or resistant in relation to a certain antifungal (64). Two organizations, the European Committee on Antibiotic Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) and the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI), have standardized methods to perform AFST. Both institutions have developed breakpoints of some antifungals to *Candida* spp. that are currently used to classify resistant strains. Testing can also be carried out using Etest manufacturer's guide (65). A yeast is classified as: susceptible when the it is inhibited in vitro by a concentration of the tested drug that is associated with a high likelihood of therapeutic success; intermediate when it is inhibited in vitro by a concentration of the tested drug that is associated with an uncertain therapeutic effect; resistant when it is inhibited in vitro by a concentration of the tested drug that is associated with a high likelihood of therapeutic failure (66).

Challenges with patient treatment are proportional with developing resistance and therefore rapid identification of resistance and its mechanisms is necessary. Once identified, treatment can be more adequately adjusted to the patient's needs (51).

#### 1.3.2. Mechanisms of antifungal resistance

Various mechanisms of antifungal resistance have been identified and for the most part they are involved with reduced intracellular drug accumulation, counter action of the drug effect and decreased target affinity. The presence of these mechanisms depends on the mode of action of the antifungals.



Figure 5 – Adapted from Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. Antifungal resistant *Candida* species isolates in the US, by year, 2009–2017 (67).

Resistance mechanisms against azole antifungal agents are the most documented in *Candida* spp. (Figure 5). One of the mechanisms that causes the decrease in intracellular concentration of azole is the upregulation of two families of efflux pumps. These two families have two different sources of energy needed to pump out the drug and differ in the specificity of the azole molecule. The superfamily of ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters has the *Cdr* pumps encoded by *Candida* drug resistance 1 (*CDR1*) and 2 (*CDR2*) genes in *C. albicans*. The major facilitator superfamily (MFS) has a pump that is a secondary transporter and uses as a source of energy the proton gradient. This pump is encoded by the *MDR1* gene in *C. albicans* (68). Mutations on the *TC1* and *MRR1* transcription factors are responsible, respectively, for the upregulation of *CDR1/CDR2* and *MDR1* (69) (70). Other transporter genes have

been reported to be upregulated in azole-resistant *C. glabrata* (*CgCDR1*, *CgCDR2*, *CgSNQ2*) (71) (72) (73), *C. krusei* (*ABC1*, *ABC2*) (74) (75), *Candida dubliniensis* (*CdCDR1*, *CdCDR2*) (76) and *C. tropicalis* (*CDR1*-homologue) isolates (77). In *C. glabrata*, *CgCDR1*, *CgCDR2*, and *CgSNQ2* genes are regulated by the *CgPDR1* transcription factor (78) (79) (80).

The target of azole antifungals is lanosterol 14- $\alpha$ -demethylase encoded by the *ERG11* gene. Several point mutations on this gene have been characterized and associated to high azole MICs and they contribute for the decreased affinity between the drug and the target. There are also two mechanisms associated with counteracting the drug effects of azoles. One of them is the upregulation of the *ERG11* gene caused by the regulation of transcription factors and gene duplication. This leads to an intracellular increase of the target protein. The other mechanism is very uncommon, but it has been identified in several clinical isolates of *C. albicans* (81). The C5 sterol desaturase gene (*ERG3*) is essential for ergosterol biosynthesis. Point mutation in *ERG3* lead to the inactivation of the gene and total inactivation of C5 sterol desaturase, interfering with the ergosterol biosynthesis pathway. In this case, there is no longer an accumulation of 14- $\alpha$ -methylated sterols and the cell membranes produced are lacking ergosterol (82) (Figure 6).

There is evidence of counteraction of drug effect when it comes to polyenes. Reports show that *Candida* isolates that are polyene-resistant, when compared with susceptible isolates, show a decrease in ergosterol content. Loss of function mutations in the *ERG3* and *ERG6* genes are probably responsible for this phenomenon given that these genes encode enzymes that are involved in the biosynthesis of ergosterol. Therefore, there is a substitution of ergosterol by other sterols (83) (84) (85).

Primary resistance to flucytosine remains low (<2%). Secondary resistance is consequence of the inactivation of different enzymes of the pyrimidine pathway. Point mutations in the *FCY2* gene contribute to reduced intracellular accumulation of flucytosine because this gene encodes the cytosine permease, part of the pyrimidine pathway. Point mutations in the *FCY1* or *FUR1* (most frequent) gene can also result in acquired resistance to flucytosine by counteraction of the drug effect. *FCY1* encodes the cytosine deaminase and *FUR1* encodes the uracil phosphoribosyl transferase. These enzymes are catalysts in the conversion of 5-fluorocytosine to 5-fluorouracil and 5-fluorouracil to 5-fluorouridine monophosphate, respectively. Alterations in expression lead to interference in the pyrimidine pathway by the decreased synthesis of the active nucleotide metabolites. Several point mutations have been described in *C. albicans, C. glabrata*, and *C. lusitaniae* (86) (83) (87) (88).

Resistance to allylamines is rare but may occur owing to enhanced efflux pump activity or mutations in squalene epoxidase (89).

#### 1.3.3. Echinocandin resistance mechanisms

Resistance to echinocandin antifungal agents was first reported in 2005 (90) and remains relatively low, at <3% with *C. albicans* and most *Candida* spp. (91). The exception is *C. glabrata*, in which echinocandin resistance is rising and there is cause for alarm as many isolates show cross-resistance to azole antifungal agents (92) (93) (94).

Unlike azole antifungal agents, resistance to echinocandins is largely unaffected by multidrug transporters (95) (96). In *Candida* spp., resistance mutations occur in two highly conserved hot spot regions of *FKS* gene product, *FKS1* and *FKS2*, the catalytic subunit of (1,3)- $\beta$ -D-glucan synthase (Figure 6). The amino acid substitutions decrease sensitivity of glucan synthase to drug by 50 to 3000-fold (97) (98), and elevate MIC values 5 to 100-fold (99) (100). The echinocandin resistance level conferred by hot spot mutations in *FKS1* or *FKS2* may also depend on the relative expression of these genes, which can vary more than 20-fold (98) (101).

Inhibition of glucan synthase by echinocandins causes cellular stress and yeasts possess adaptive cellular factors in order to provide protection against these stresses (102) (103). Drug tolerance may be an important intermediate stage for development of resistance. Consistent with this model, fungal stress tolerance pathways including cell wall integrity, enable survival of echinocandin induced stress by controlling compensatory upregulation of chitin synthesis (104) (105). In treatment with echinocandins, there are many changes in cell wall composition that occur in *Candida* spp., not only the increase in cell wall chitin content, but also the decrease in  $\beta$ -glucans and the upregulation of cell surface proteins (106). The cell wall integrity circuitry is not only crucial for responses to cell wall stress induced by echinocandins, but it is also required for cell membrane stress induced by azoles (107), highlighting its central role in mediating antifungal drug resistance.



Figure 6 – Adapted from Danièle Maubon et al, 2014. Molecular mechanisms of echinocandin and azole resistance in *Candida* species a) Regular (1,3)- $\beta$ -glucan synthesis on the inner side of the fungal membrane. b) Typical echinocandin activity. These compounds block cell wall synthesis by inhibiting the FKS subunit of the (1,3)- $\beta$ -glucan synthase. c) Echinocandin resistance due to FKS mutations. The target enzyme is less sensitive to echinocandins, allowing the production of (1,3)- $\beta$ -glucans. d)

Typical ergosterol synthesis at the endoplasmic reticulum and uptake of azole antifungal drugs into the cytosol of the fungal cell. e) Typical azole activity. These molecules inhibit the lanosterol-14a-demethylase (Erg11p), leading to (1) membrane ergosterol depletion and (2) the production of toxic sterols via Erg3p. f) Azole resistance due to (1) the overproduction of transporters, increasing azole efflux, (2) alteration of the target enzyme by mutations of ERG11, (3) Erg11p overproduction, (4) mutations of ERG3 preventing the azole mediated production of toxic sterols which are substituted by the non-toxic fecosterol (*54*).

### 1.4. Susceptibility of Candida spp. in Poland

Little is known on the epidemiology of *Candida* spp. in Poland. Nevertheless, the frequency of infections caused by non-*albicans* species is increasing. The prevalence of non-*albicans* species increased from 12.5% to 70% in ten years. The same report showed that for 118 clinical cases of *Candida* infections in polish hospitals the mortality rate was 8.5%. *C. albicans* and *C. parapsilosis* were the most prevalent species (39.8% and 35.6% respectively) and fluconazole had the highest resistance rate of 7.6% (108). The most common antifungal drug used in polish intensive care units (ICUs) is fluconazole, accounting for 97% of all the antifungal drugs (109).

Regarding the distribution of *Candida* spp. in Poland, a total of 302 cases of candidemia were reported over two years in 20 polish hospitals. *C. albicans* was the most isolated species, accounting for 50.96% of isolates, followed by *C. glabrata* and *C. parapsilosis* with frequencies of 14.10% and 13.14% respectively, and the distribution of *C. tropicalis* and *C. krusei* was at 6.73% and 6.41%. Other Candida spp. (*C. famata, C. dubliniensis, Candida sake, Candida kefyr, Candida lusitaniae, C. quilliermondii, C. inconspicua*) comprised of 8.65% of the isolates (110).

Reports on resistance of *Candida* spp. in Poland are scarce, especially regarding echinocandins. There are two reports from 2008 on caspofungin susceptibility testing performed with Etests on isolates collected in polish hospitals and the examined *Candida* isolates were susceptible to echinocandins (111) (112). Another three reports from 2012 (113), 2014 (114) and 2015 (115) had similar results. In 2015 a study performed in the Medical University of Lublin in Poland presented data that showed that most of the studied clinical isolates – 27 (90%) showed sensitivity to micafungin, with MIC values ranging from 0.004 to 2 mg/L, while 3 (10%) isolates, including 2 isolates of *C. tropicalis* and 1 isolate of *C. famata*, were resistant to micafungin, with MIC values > 32 mg/L (116).

## 1.5. Cell wall of Candida spp. as a target for antifungal research

The cell wall is an essential and highly dynamic fungal structure that has been implicated in several physiological processes. These include the maintenance of cellular morphology and osmotic protection of the cell through its rigidity. The cell wall can modulate the immunological response against infection. To better understand at molecular level the organization of the fungal cell once drug resistance has been established, cell wall represents a first choice as this compartment constitutes her barrier between the yeast the and host. In addition, its absence in mammalian cells makes it an ideally attractive target in antifungal research (117).

Studies for identification of cell wall proteins (CWPs) that change their expression in resistant strains may be useful to determine biological markers associated to drug resistance. Furthermore, determination of the functional properties of differently expressed CWPs may highlight metabolic pathways involved in sustaining the virulence of yeasts. A suitable strategy to study modulation of cell wall proteins in resistant strains and clinical isolates is the analysis of gene expression that can give a better picture of the differential expressed proteins between sensitive and resistant strains.

#### 1.5.1. FKS gene and upregulation of genes encoding cell wall proteins

As previously mentioned, *FKS1* and *FKS2* encode catalytic subunits of the glucan synthases that are responsible for synthesis of (1,3)- $\beta$ -glucan in the cell wall. Reports describe that in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* the deletion mutant *fks1* $\Delta$  reduces the glucan content of the cell wall and this results in an increase in the chitin content (also described for *Candida* spp. (118)), upregulation of the *PST1* gene and activation of the expression of *CWP1*, which encodes glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-dependent cell wall protein (119) (120). The induction of transcription of *CWP2* gene occurs around the same time as *CWP1* and might therefore be brought about by similar mechanisms (121). These cellular responses have been regarded as compensating for cell wall damage in order to maintain cell wall integrity. The cell wall model suggests that the three cell wall components, glucan, chitin and mannoproteins, are bound to each other and form a large complex to ensure cell wall integrity. The decrease in (1,3)- $\beta$ -glucan synthesis could be compensated for by changing the type of association among them.

*CHS1* gene encodes for chitin synthase 1, located in the plasma membrane, and it is involved in the formation and repair of the disk-shaped septum in yeast (122). Chitin plays important roles in maintaining the mechanical strength of the fungal cell wall, thus keeping its integrity (123). Damage to the cell wall may be countered by the elevated quantity of chitin in cell wall due to increased synthesis and/or decreased degradation of chitin, which may increase the tolerance to antifungal drugs (124). Because this gene is essential *in vitro* and *in vivo* and is not present in humans, it represents an attractive target for the development of antifungal compounds (125).

*PST1* gene encodes for a GPI-modified protein (homologous to a protein encoded by *ECM33*), covalently incorporated in cell wall fraction of exponential-phase cells (126). The function of the encoded protein is still unknown but it was reported that its upregulated by cell wall damage and by the cell integrity pathway (127). A homologous gene to *PST1* has been reported in *C. albicans* (128).

Cell wall proteins (CWP) play key roles in cell wall assembly, adhesion to host surfaces, as immunomodulators and in protecting the fungus from host enzymes. Alterations in the cell wall proteome would introduce variation at the yeast surface, and such changes could enhance the ability of the fungus to evade the host's immune system and to colonize different sites of the body (129). *CWP1* and *CWP2* genes encode two major (GPI)-anchored mannoproteins of the cell wall (130). Cells have the ability to attach these CWPs to the wall either via linkages to (1,3)- $\beta$ -glucan, (1,6)- $\beta$ -glucan or both (131).

## 2. Materials and Methods

### 2.1. Strains

A total of 78 *Candida* strains belonging to six different species (48 *C. albicans*, 18 *C. glabrata*, 5. *C. palmioleophila*, 3 *C. krusei*, 3 *C. parapsilosis*, 1 *C. inconspicua*) were used during this set of experiments. These strains were isolated, between the years of 2008 to 2012, from patients of four polish hospitals: Children's Memorial Health Institute in Warsaw (CZD), Medical University of Gdansk, Pomeranian Medical University in Szczecin and Wrocław Medical University. The isolates originated from a variety of clinical specimens, isolated from swabs of the mouth, throat, faeces, urine, blood, and bronchopulmonary lavage fluid.

The strains used for each set of experiments were chosen before any assay took place.

### 2.2. Antifungal susceptibility assays in *Candida* spp.

A total of 30 *Candida* species (21 *C. albicans*, 2 *C. glabrata*, 1 *C. inconspicua*, 1 *C. krusei*, 5 *C. palmioleophila*) were submitted to ASFT.

Broth microdilution methods are used to establish the MICs of antimicrobial agents. In dilution tests, yeasts are evaluated for their ability to produce sufficient growth in microdilution plate wells of broth culture media containing serial dilutions of the antimicrobial agents. MICs show the in vitro activity of a given antifungal drug under the described test conditions. The MIC also allows fungi to be categorised as susceptible (S), intermediate (I), or resistant (R) to an antifungal drug when appropriate breakpoints have been established.

All antifungal drug solutions were prepared in accordance with Good Manufacturing Practice. The echinocandins powder was obtained from the following manufactures: Pfizer (AND), Sigma-Aldrich (CSP) and Astellas (MCF).

#### 2.2.1. Medium

RPMI 1640 (with L-glutamine and a pH indicator but without bicarbonate) supplemented with glucose to a final concentration of 0.2% (RPMI 0.2% G) was used. Buffer 3-(N-morpholino) propane sulfonic acid (MOPS) was used to obtain a pH of 7.0 at 25°C. The mixture was filtered. For quality control purposes, the sterilised medium without the antifungal was used for sterility checks, for retesting the pH and as a growth control with a reference strain.

#### 2.2.2. Stock solutions

Antifungal drug solutions must be prepared considering the potency of the lot of antifungal drug powder that is being used. The amount of powder or diluent required to prepare a standard solution may be calculated as demonstrated by equations (1) and (2).

Weight (g) = 
$$\frac{\text{Volume (L) × Concentration } \left(\frac{\text{mg}}{\text{L}}\right)}{\text{Potency} \left(\frac{\text{mg}}{\text{g}}\right)}$$
 (1)

Volume (L)= 
$$\frac{\text{Weight } (g) \times \text{Potency}(\frac{mg}{g})}{\text{Concentration } (\frac{mg}{L})}$$
 (2)

The hydrophobic solvent used for echinocandins was dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). It was essential to ensure the drug was fully dissolved given that several antifungals can be difficult to dissolve resulting in artificially elevated MICs.

#### 2.2.3. Working solutions

The range of concentrations tested encompassed the breakpoint as well as the expected results for the quality control strains. The drug concentration ranges recommended are 0.008 - 4 mg/L for the three echinocandins.

#### 2.2.4. Microdilution plates

The microdilution wells were disposable and composed of sterile plastic since high binding plastic had to be avoided. The series of dilutions started at 100 times the final concentration and after each working solution was diluted 10 times in the RPMI-1640 broth.

#### 2.2.5. Inoculation of microdilution plates

The inoculum was prepared by suspending representative colonies of the isolates, obtained from an 24 h culture at approximately 35°C on Sabouraud's dextrose agar, in saline solution. The final inoculum was around 2.5 x 10<sup>5</sup> CFU/mL. The cell density was adjusted to the density of a 0.5 McFarland standard by measuring absorbance in a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 530 nm.

Each well of the microdilution plate was inoculated with yeast suspension. The growth control wells were also inoculated, containing sterile drug-free medium and inoculum suspension. One well contained saline solution from the lot used to prepare the inoculum as a sterility control for medium and distilled water (drug-free medium only). Quality control organisms were tested by the same method each time an isolate was tested.

Viability counts were performed for quality control purposes to ensure that test wells contained between  $1 - 5 \times 10^5$  CFU/mL. The suspension was homogenized, and a sample streaked over the surface of a Sabouraud dextrose plate, which was then incubated.
### 2.2.6. Incubation and reading results of microdilution plates

Microdilution plates were incubated without agitation at 35°C for approximately 24 h. The growth on each plate containing the antifungal agent was visually compared with the growth on the control plate (without the antifungal for each yeast). MIC values were determined visually after 24 h of incubation as the lowest concentration of drug that caused a complete growth inhibition.

## 2.2.7. Quality control

MICs for control strains should ideally be close to the middle of the range of the two-fold series tested and antifungal drug susceptibility patterns must be stable. The control strains were selected according to these criteria, *C. albicans* ATCC 90028 and *C. krusei* ATCC 6258.

# 2.3. Genotyping and PCR fingerprinting

Genotyping is the process of determining differences in the genotype of an individual by examining the individual's DNA sequence using biological assays and comparing it with another individual's sequence or a reference sequence (132). One of the various techniques used is genotyping with Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR). The advantages of using PCR include much faster results and not having to handle radioactivity (133).

The high similarity between yeast species causes significant problems in the correct identification in a standard clinical mycology laboratory. PCR fingerprinting was performed to distinguish between clinical isolates of closely related species (134). A single primer was used in each PCR assay to amplify DNA sequences from 70 isolates (40 *C. albicans*, 18 *C. glabrata*, 5 *C. palmioleophila*, 3. *C. parapsilosis*, 3 *C. krusei*, 1 *C. inconspicua*). Three different single primers were tested: A, B and C (Table 1).

Primer	Gene	Sequence (5' to 3')
Α	TRP	AATTGTTCCAGCGTTTTTGT
В	HSP	TGCAACCACAAGAGGCTTAAC
С	FKS	TTGACTTTGTCTTTAAGATCC

Table 1 - Primer A (TRP gene), B (HSP gene) and C (FKS gene) sequences used for PCR fingerprinting.

The goal was that each species could be identified by a distinct species-specific multilocus pattern, allowing species identification for all clinical isolates. In addition, the PCR fingerprinting generates strain specific profiles, making this method applicable to epidemiological investigations.

### 2.3.1. DNA isolation

In order to perform genotyping by PCR for *Candida* spp. it was first needed to extract and isolate the DNA from the microorganisms. DNA extraction was performed by taking a small fragment of mycelium and resuspending it in 100  $\mu$ l of extraction buffer (60 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 250 mM KCl and 50 mM Tris buffer, pH 9.5), followed by 10 min incubation at 95°C. Next, 100  $\mu$ l of neutralization buffer was added (2% bovine serum albumin). After vortex mixing DNA-containing solution was stored at 4°C for subsequent analysis (135).

#### 2.3.2. PCR reaction

The components needed to perform the PCR reaction were the following: 10  $\mu$ L of PCR Mix (A&A Biotechnology, Poland), 0.2  $\mu$ L of primer, 7.8  $\mu$ L of sterile water and 2  $\mu$ L of DNA. The total volume of solution was 20  $\mu$ L. PCR Mix is an optimized ready to use standard PCR mixture containing High Fidelity Taq DNA polymerase, PCR buffer, MgCl<sub>2</sub> and dNTPs. Mix also contains red dye and loading buffer. These additives enable direct loading of PCR products on agarose gel upon completing the PCR. Thermocycler GeneAmp PCR System 2400 (Perkin Elmer) was used for the PCR reaction. The PCR stages and conditions are described in Table 2.

PCR products were detected on 1.5 % agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide, a DNA-binding dye. Optimal conditions for electrophoresis were 110 V for 1 h. DNA fragments of different sizes formed bands on the gel which was visible under UV light.

When comparing the different species patterns on the gel, one of the goals was to identify the bands from nonalbicans Candida that stand out or differ from the *C. albicans* pattern. To better understand the relation between these patterns and the phylogenetic relations between species, it was necessary to clone and sequence the interest bands. These bands might represent genes of interest for the non-albicans species and reveal some new and interesting information.

PCR reaction was repeated for the chosen strains with bands of interest and 60  $\mu$ L of PCR product was used to perform gel electrophoresis. The bands of interest were cut from the gel and the DNA material isolated using the Gel-Out kit (A&A Biotechnology, Poland). After, NeqSSB polymerase, a polymerase with correction ability, was used to remove AAA adducts from the ends of the PCR product (3 min, 72°C, 0.5  $\mu$ L of polymerase, 25  $\mu$ L of product, 3  $\mu$ L of buffer, 2  $\mu$ L of water). The DNA was then purified, using the Clean Up kit (A&A Biotechnology, Poland).

Stages	Temperature (°C)	Hold (s)	Cycles	Description
Initialization	95	300	-	The initiation step heats the double stranded DNA template strand to the point where the strands start denaturing and the hydrogen bonds are broken between the nucleotide base pairs.
Denaturation	95	45		Intense heating to denature the DNA strands. This provides single-stranded template for the next step.
Annealing	40	120	35	Cooling of the reaction so the primers can bind to their complementary sequences on the single- stranded template DNA.
Extension	72	120		The temperature is increased so that Taq polymerase extends the primers, synthesizing new strands of DNA.
Final Elongation	72	600	-	A final extension is needed to fill-in any protruding ends of the newly synthesized strands.

### Table 2 – Stages of PCR and respective temperature (°C), hold (s), number of cycles and brief description.

### 2.3.3. Medium

Lysogeny Broth (LB), also known as LB medium, is a commonly used nutritionally rich medium for culturing bacteria. A litre of medium consists of 10 g of tryptone, 5 g of yeast extract, and 10 g of sodium chloride. LB medium is widely used in molecular biology for growing recombinant *Escherichia coli* for use in plasmid purification and protein expression.

LB agar (LA) is LB broth that contains agar and is typically prepared in petri dishes. The flat, solid properties of LB agar allow the plating of bacterial cultures and generation of colonies. Agar is typically added to liquid LB, then autoclaved to produce a hot, liquid solution. A litre of medium consists of 15 g of agar, 10 g of tryptone, 10 g of sodium chloride and 5 g of yeast extract.

## 2.3.4. Production and purification of the pUC19 plasmid

The cloning vector chosen to carry the genes was pUC19. It is a small, high-copy number *E. coli* plasmid cloning vector with multiple cloning sites. The microorganism used to obtain the plasmid was *E. coli* TOP10. It is a strain of *E. coli* used for cloning and plasmid preparation. It has a high transformation efficiency and it contains the genes for recA, a recombinase, and endA, a DNAse that lowers plasmid yield, taken out.

The *E. coli* TOP10 cells were inoculated on 3 mL of LB for 24 h at 37°C. After, 1 mL of the overnight culture was inoculated with 50 mL LB at 37°C until an optical density at 600 nm of 0.2 ( $OD_{600}$ =0.2) was reached. The mixture was centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 min and the resultant cell pellet was resuspended in 50 mL of 100 mM of a solution of CaCl<sub>2</sub> and incubated on ice for 1 h.

A volume of 1  $\mu$ L of pUC19 solution was taken and added to 100  $\mu$ L of competent cells of *E. coli* TOP10. The plasmidcell mixture was heated (heat shock) at 37°C for 10 min, allowing the plasmid to enter the cell through the disrupted membrane. The heated mixture was then placed back on ice for 2 min to retain the plasmids inside the bacteria. LB medium was then added, 1 mL, and the mixture was incubated for 1 h at 37°C. Finally, 100  $\mu$ L of the mixture was spread onto plates containing LA medium with ampicillin (AMP), isopropyl- $\beta$ -D-thiogalactoside (IPTG) and X-gal. The cells were regrown by inoculation of 3 mL of LB containing AMP during 24 h at 37°C. AMP was used in the medium because the pUC19 plasmid encodes an ampicillin resistance gene. The mixture was centrifuged and the plasmid isolated and purified using the Plasmid Mini kit (A&A Biotechnology, Poland). The plasmid was then digested by taking 20  $\mu$ L of the purified plasmid solution (50 ng/ $\mu$ L) and adding 1  $\mu$ L of the restriction enzyme Smal, 3  $\mu$ L of Tango buffer and 6  $\mu$ L of sterile water. The mixture was incubated for 1 h at 37°C.

#### 2.3.5. Ligation and transformation

The ligation between the plasmid and gene is one of the crucial steps for a successful cloning. In a tube it was added 20  $\mu$ L of the digested plasmid, 20  $\mu$ L of PCR product, 1  $\mu$ L of ligase, 5  $\mu$ L of buffer and 5  $\mu$ L of ATP. The mixture was incubated at 17°C for 1 h.

New competent *E. coli* cells were prepared to proceed with the plasmid transformation. The procedure was to inoculate 20 mL of LB containing tetracycline (TET) with *E. coli* TOP10 F' cells (these contain a gene for TET resistance) and incubate for 24 h. 2 mL of this culture were incubated for 2 hours in a total volume of 50 mL of LB. After, the mixture was centrifuged twice. CaCl<sub>2</sub> was added, and the mixture was left to incubate on ice for 1 h. For the transformation of the plasmid containing the gene into the *E. coli* competent cells, 50 µL of pUC19 with insert solution was taken and added to 100 µL of *E. coli* competent cells. The cells were incubated with the ligation mixture for 1 h on ice. A heat shock followed with a duration of 10 min and at a temperature of 37°C. The tube was put on ice for 2 min. 1 mL of LB medium was added and the mixture was incubated for 1 h at 37°C.

The exact mechanism of the uptake of DNA is not known. However, it is thought that the presence of calcium ions allows the negatively charged DNA to come in close contact with the similarly charged cell membrane by acting as the cross bridge. The heat shock step of transformation transiently melts the membrane to complete the uptake process. The efficiency of transformation depends upon many different factors including the competent state of the cells and the properties of the DNA to be transformed.

#### 2.3.6. Cloning and sequencing

In plates with LA medium, AMP, TET, IPTG and X-gal, 150 µL of the bacterial culture was spread and incubated for 24 h at 37°C. For control purposes there was also positive and negative control plates. The negative control was composed of only competent cells with no plasmid to make sure there is no contamination and the positive control contained competent cells with the pUC19 plasmid but with no insert, after growing in LB medium.

The blue-white screen is a screening technique that allows for the detection of successful ligations in vector-based gene cloning. The competent cells were grown in the presence of X-gal. If the ligation was successful, the bacterial colony will be white; if not, the colony will be blue. This technique allows for the quick and easy detection of successful ligation.

The host *E. coli* strain carries the lacZ deletion mutant (lacZ $\Delta$ M15) which contains the  $\omega$ -peptide, while the vectors used carry the lacZ $\alpha$  sequence which encodes the first 59 residues of  $\beta$ -galactosidase, the  $\alpha$ -peptide. Neither are functional by themselves. However, when the two peptides are expressed together, as when a vector containing the lacZ $\alpha$  sequence is transformed into a lacZ $\Delta$ M15 cells, they form a functional  $\beta$ -galactosidase enzyme. The pUC19 vector carries within the lacZ $\alpha$  sequence an internal multiple cloning site (MCS). This MCS within the lacZ $\alpha$  sequence can be cut by restriction enzymes so that the foreign DNA may be inserted within the  $lacZ\alpha$  gene, thereby disrupting the gene and thus production of  $\alpha$ -peptide. Consequently, in cells containing the vector with an insert, no functional  $\beta$ -galactosidase may be formed. The presence of an active  $\beta$ -galactosidase can be detected by X-gal within the agar plate. X-gal is cleaved by  $\beta$ -galactosidase to form 5-bromo-4-chloro-indoxyl, which then spontaneously dimerizes and oxidizes to form a bright blue insoluble pigment 5,5'-dibromo-4,4'-dichloro-indigo. This results in a characteristic blue colour in cells containing a functional  $\beta$ -galactosidase. Blue colonies therefore show that they may contain a vector with an uninterrupted  $lacZ\alpha$  (therefore no insert), while white colonies, where X-gal is not hydrolysed, indicate the presence of an insert. Isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) is used along with X-gal for bluewhite screening. IPTG is a non-metabolizable analogue of galactose that induces the expression of lacZ gene. It should be noted that IPTG is not a substrate for  $\beta$ -galactosidase but only an inducer. For visual screening purposes, chromogenic substrate like X-gal is required.

After the selection of the white colonies these were re-plated using the line technique, in LA medium, and left to grow overnight. LB medium was then prepared with 100 mL of TET and AMP. A sample of the colonies was mixed with 5 mL of LB and left to grow overnight. The overnight culture was subjected to centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 10 min. The Plasmid Midi kit (A&A Biotechnology, Poland) was used to obtain the plasmid with the insert.

As a preliminary test to see if the plasmids contained the inserts, gel electrophoresis was performed using the plasmids with the insert and the plasmid without the insert for comparison. If the plasmid, after cloning, was bigger than the plasmid without the insert then it means that, probably, the cloning process was successful.

Sequencing was carried out by Macrogen (The Netherlands). The analysis of sequences was performed on the basic local alignment search tool, BLAST (National Centre for Biotechnology Information).

# 2.4. Quantitative Real Time RT-PCR

Quantitative real-time reverse transcription PCR (RT-qPCR) has become the method of choice for gene expression analysis. It is a fast and convenient PCR method that uses the phenomenon of fluorescence resonance energy transfer using a DNA-binding dye. The detection of changes in fluorescence intensity during the reaction enables the user to follow the PCR reaction in real time. RT-qPCR comprises several steps: RNA is isolated from target tissue/cells; mRNA is reverse-transcribed to cDNA; gene-specific PCR primers are used to amplify a segment of the cDNA of interest, following the reaction in real time; and the initial concentration of the selected transcript in a specific tissue or cell type is calculated from the exponential phase of the reaction. Relative quantification or absolute quantification can be performed (136).

This technique has revolutionized the field of molecular diagnostics by enabling the shift toward a high-throughput, automated technology with lower turnaround times. By measuring the amount of cellular RNA, it is possible to determine to what extent that gene is being expressed. Expression levels can change dramatically from gene to gene, cell to cell or during various experimental conditions. The quantitative endpoint for real-time PCR is the threshold cycle ( $C_T$ ). The  $C_T$  is defined as the PCR cycle at which the fluorescent signal of the reporter dye crosses an arbitrarily placed threshold. By presenting data as the  $C_T$ , one ensures that the PCR is in the exponential phase of amplification. The numerical value of the  $C_T$  is inversely related to the amount of amplicon in the reaction (the lower the  $C_T$ , the greater the amount of amplicon) (137).

The expression level analysis was performed for 4 different genes associated with the cell wall, *CHS1*, *PST1*, *CWP1* and *CWP2*, and that have been verified to be upregulated when there is inactivation of the *FKS1* gene in *S. cerevisiae*. The goal was to check if, besides the possibility of resistant isolates presenting point mutations in the *FKS* gene, other possible alterations in the same gene could lead to the upregulation of the cell wall genes in *Candida* spp. The expression level was verified for 8 isolates (4 *C. albicans*, 3 *C. palmioleophila* and 1 *C. krusei*).

#### 2.4.1. Inoculation and incubation

The isolates were grown on Sabouraud agar plates for 18 - 20 hours at  $30^{\circ}$ C. Small amounts of biomass from single colonies of each tested strain were suspended in a volume of 4 mL of Sabouraud broth and incubated with continuous shaking for about 5 h at  $30^{\circ}$ C to achieve OD<sub>660</sub>=0.6.

#### 2.4.2. RNA isolation

The yeast cells were harvested by centrifugation and mRNA was isolated using the Total RNA Mini Plus Concentrator kit (A&A Biotechnology, Poland) with the acid phenol method (manufacturer's protocol). The isolated RNA was purified with DNase. The reaction mixture composed of 10  $\mu$ l of sterile RNase-free water, 7  $\mu$ l of isolated RNA solution, 2  $\mu$ l of 10 X reaction buffer and 1  $\mu$ l of DNase (10 U/ $\mu$ l) (A&A Biotechnology, Poland). Incubation followed at 30°C for 30 min and after the mixture was purified with the Total RNA Mini Plus Concentrator kit (A&A Biotechnology, Poland). It was necessary to check the concentration of the mixture to assure that there was enough RNA to proceed with the reverse transcription. NanoDrop1000 (Thermo Scientific, USA) was used for measuring the concentration. The result was 1 $\mu$ g of RNA. Double purification can sometimes result in reduction of efficiency, but it was necessary to obtain a completely pure RNA solution, not contaminated with DNA.

### 2.4.3. Reverse transcription of mRNA to cDNA

Immediately after purifying mRNA the reverse transcription reaction was carried out using TranScriba kit (A&A Biotechnology, Poland) for the synthesis of the first strand of cDNA from the mRNA template. The reaction was done in two steps. In the first one, the RNA was incubated with 1  $\mu$ l of oligo(dT)18 solution (100  $\mu$ M) and RNase-free water added up to volume of 10  $\mu$ L at 65°C for 5 min to denature the mRNA template secondary structures. After adding the remaining reagents: 4  $\mu$ L of 5 X reaction buffer, 0.5  $\mu$ L of RNAse inhibitor, 2  $\mu$ L of dNTPs Mix solution (2.5 mM of each) and 4  $\mu$ l of TranScriba Reverse Transcriptase (20 U/ $\mu$ l), the final mixture was incubated at 42°C for 60 min. The reaction was terminated by heating the sample at 70°C for 5 min. The first cDNA strand was stored at -70°C.

#### 2.4.4. Real time PCR

Quantitative analysis of expression of the *CHS1*, *PST1*, *CWP1*, *CWP2* and reference *ACT1* genes was performed by real-time PCR with a LightCycler Nano PCR Real-Time System (Roche, Switzerland). The LightCycler induces fluorescence excitation by a blue light-emitting diode that is read by three silicon photodiodes with different-wavelength filters, allowing detection of spectrally distinct fluorophores. The dye used was SYBR Green 1. This is a nonsequence-specific fluorogenic minor groove DNA-binding dye that intercalates into DNA and it exhibits little fluorescence when unbound in solution but emits a strong fluorescent signal upon binding to DNA. An increase in the fluorescence signal occurs during polymerization and it decreases when DNA is denatured. Real time PCR was performed for a mixture of 10  $\mu$ l of RealTime 2 X HS-PCR Master Mix Probe (Taq DNA polymerase 0.1 U/ $\mu$ l , 2 X reaction buffer, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 10 mM, dNTPs 0.5 mM of each, A&A Biotechnology, Poland), 1  $\mu$ L of each primer solution (10

 $\mu$ M), 0.5  $\mu$ l of probe solution (10  $\mu$ M), 1  $\mu$ L of total cDNA sample, and distilled water up to the final volume of 20  $\mu$ l. The PCR reaction stages and conditions are shown in Table 3.

Stage	Temperature (°C)	Hold (s)	Ramp (°C/s)	Cycles
Hold	95	300	5	-
	95	10	5	
3-Step Amplification	56	15	4	35
	72	15	5	
Hold	72	300	5	
	60	20	4	
Weiting	95	20	0.1	-
Hold	40	600	5	

Table 3 – Stages of real time RT-qPCR and respective temperature (°C), hold (s), change in temperature from one PCR step to another over time (ramp, °C/s) and number of cycles.

### 2.4.5. Relative quantification: Livak's method

Quantitative analysis of the relative level of expression of the investigated genes was carried out by using the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta C_T}$  method, also called the Livak's method (138). The method allows determination of the relative differences in the expression level of analysed target genes and a reference gene. In order to normalize the results, the expression level of a calibrator is used. For this research, the *C. albicans* 2023 strain isolated at Wrocław Medical University was selected as a calibrator.

The level of expression of target genes in each strain was determined based on comparison of  $C_T$  values of amplification of gene of interest and the reference gene (internal control). As a reference gene for this research *ACT1* gene was chosen, a housekeeping gene as its expression is assumed to remain unchanged over a wide range of conditions.

Advantages of the comparative  $C_T$  method include ease of use and the ability to present data as fold change in expression (Equation 3). Disadvantages of the comparative  $C_T$  method include the assumptions of PCR efficiency must hold or the PCR must be further optimized.

Fold change= $2^{-\Delta\Delta C_T}$  (3)

Equation 6 shows the final form of the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta C_T}$  equation (138). This form of the equation may be used to compare the gene expression in two different samples. To reach Equation 6 it is needed to have the expression of the gene of interest in a given yeast (C<sub>T</sub> gene of interest), expression of the same gene but in the strain used as calibrator (C<sub>T</sub> calibrator) and the expression of an internal control gene (C<sub>T</sub> reference gene).

 $\Delta C_T$  reference =  $C_T$  gene of interest -  $C_T$  reference gene (4)

 $\Delta C_T$  calibrator =  $C_T$  gene of interest -  $C_T$  calibrator (5)

 $2^{-\Delta\Delta C_T} = \Delta C_T$  reference -  $\Delta C_T$  calibrator (6)

$$R = 2^{-\Delta\Delta C_T} \quad (7)$$

Expression level =  $\log_2(R)$  (8)

The Livak's equation value of parameter R = 1 indicates that the level of the target gene expression in the investigated sample (strain) and internal control gene are the same. A value greater than 1 indicates a higher level of expression of the tested gene in the cells of the investigated strain in comparison to the cells of the calibrator, whereas a significant increase in the level of the gene expression is considered to have occurred when the value of the parameter R is higher than 2.

# 3. Results and Discussion

# 3.1. Susceptibility of *Candida* spp.

Categorization of MICs of various antibiotics in AFST depends on breakpoints set by various international agencies. One of the most prevalent guidelines used worldwide is from CLSI whose interpretive cut offs for antifungals is based on MIC distributions, pharmacokinetic–pharmacodynamic properties and the mechanisms of resistance (139).

The results presented are a subset of a larger collection. The detailed procedure, results and discussion of the complete collection is described by the work of Martyna Mroczyńska and Anna Brillowska-Dąbrowska (140).

Table 4 – CLSI breakpoints for *C. albicans, C. krusei* and *C. glabrata* regarding echinocandins: anidulafungin (AND), caspofungin (CSP) and micafungin (MCF) (141).

Species	AND	CSP	MCF
C. albicans	≤0.25/≥1	≤0.25/≥1	≤0.25/≥1
C. krusei	≤0.25/≥1	≤0.25/≥1	≤0.25/≥1
C. glabrata	≤0.12/≥0.5	≤0.12/≥0.5	≤0.06/≥0.25

All isolates of *C. albicans* analysed were considered susceptible to all echinocandins and in generally presented low MIC values, far from the breaking points established for this species (Table 4). This is in agreement with the epidemiology reported in Poland, as mentioned in section 1.4. Nevertheless, resistance to echinocandins has been reported among *C. albicans* isolates in other studies but it remains relatively low (1-3%) (142) (143).

There are reports of low susceptibility of *C. krusei* to echinocandins (144) (31) and mutations in resistant isolates of *C. krusei* were reported in the HS1 region of the *FKS1* gene (145). So, the fact that the tested strain 102 was classified as resistant was not completely surprising. Still, reports of resistance to echinocandins from this species are rare, especially in Poland.

*C. glabrata* 468 was classified as resistant. This species has also been reported as echinocandin resistant and its resistance mechanisms are related with mutations in the *FKS1* and *FKS2* genes. Contrary to *C. albicans* and other *Candida* spp., in *C. glabrata* resistance to echinocandins is more severe, common and often presents as multidrug resistance (146) (147). While echinocandin resistance among *C. glabrata* isolates ranges from 3–5% in population based studies (53), some centres report rates of 10–15% (148) (149).

Table 5 – Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) distributions for anidulafungin (AND), caspofungin (CSP) and micafungin (MCF) for 21 *C. albicans*, 2 *C. glabrata*, 1 *C. insconspicua*, 1 *C. krusei* and 5 *C. palmioleophila* isolates. The CLSI breakpoint classification is attributed to each respective MIC and isolate (S: Susceptible; R: Resistant).

Species	Strain Place of isolatior		MIC		CLSI			
			AND	CSP	MCF	AND	CSP	MCF
C. albicans	26	Wrocław	0.125	0.125	0.063	S	S	S
C. albicans	40	CZD	0.031	0.063	0.016	S	S	S
C. albicans	49	Wrocław	0.125	0.125	0.063	S	S	S
C. albicans	114	Wrocław	0.063	0.063	0.063	S	S	S
C. albicans	125	CZD	0.031	0.016	0.016	S	S	S
C. albicans	185	CZD	0.063	0.016	0.063	S	S	S
C. albicans	266	CZD	0.008	0.016	0.016	S	S	S
C. albicans	286	Gdansk	0.063	0.250	0.031	S	S	S
C. albicans	299	CZD	0.008	0.008	0.016	S	S	S
C. albicans	374	Gdansk	0.008	0.031	0.008	S	S	S
C. albicans	378	Gdansk	0.008	0.031	0.008	S	S	S
C. albicans	380	Gdansk	0.008	0.031	0.008	S	S	S
C. albicans	387	Gdansk	0.008	0.008	0.008	S	S	S
C. albicans	389	Szczecin	0.008	0.031	0.008	S	S	S
C. albicans	395	Szczecin	0.008	0.031	0.008	S	S	S
C. albicans	1010	Wrocław	0.008	0.031	0.016	S	S	S
C. albicans	1296	Wrocław	0.008	0.016	0.016	S	S	S
C. albicans	1768	Wrocław	0.008	0.031	0.016	S	S	S
C. albicans	2023	Wrocław	0.008	0.016	0.016	S	S	S
C. albicans	2029	Wrocław	0.008	0.031	0.016	S	S	S
C. albicans	2608	Wrocław	0.008	0.031	0.008	S	S	S
C. glabrata	373	CZD	0.031	0.063	0.016	S	S	S
C. glabrata	468	Gdansk	0.500	0.500	1.000	R	R	R
C. inconspicua	1444	Wrocław	4.000	4.000	4.000	-	-	-
C. krusei	102	Wrocław	4.000	4.000	4.000	R	R	R
C. palmioleophila	4	Wrocław	4.000	4.000	4.000	-	-	-
C. palmioleophila	368	Szczecin	0.500	1.000	1.000	-	-	-
C. palmioleophila	370	Gdansk	0.008	0.016	0.008	-	-	-
C. palmioleophila	377	Gdansk	0.008	0.016	0.008	-	-	-
C. palmioleophila	405	Szczecin	0.500	4.000	0.500	-	-	-

There are no echinocandin breakpoints established for *C. palmioleophila* and *C. inconspicua* due to the low frequency of occurrence. The high MIC value of 4 mg/L was observed for one of the isolates of *C. palmioleophila*, strain 4. Two strains, 368 and 370, had MIC values  $\leq 0.016$  mg/L. The other two isolates had a different MIC value depending on the examined echinocandin. Strain 405 presented a very high MIC value for CSP of 4mg/L. A 2011 study that analysed the susceptibility profile of *C. palmioleophila* indicated that the clinical isolates were highly susceptible to echinocandins (AND and MCF with MICs of  $\leq 0.03$  mg/L) (36). *C. inconspicua* has been described as susceptible to echinocandins with values between 0.002 - 0.25 mg/L (45). The identified isolate of *C. inconspicua*, for all three echinocandins, had a MIC value of 4 mg/L, which is much higher. The emergence of strains with much higher MIC values than what has been previously recorded might mean that these *Candida* spp. are developing resistant mechanisms against echinocandins.

These results have shown that echinocandin resistance of *Candida* isolates is an ongoing problem, especially in Poland and within non-*albicans* species given the low echinocandin susceptibility for isolates of *C. palmioleophila*, *C. inconspicua*, *C. krusei* and *C. glabrata*.

# 3.2. Identification PCR patterns and sequencing of discriminatory bands

### 3.2.1. Patterns obtained for tested Candida spp.

Three primers were tested to see which one would provide results that showed a clear difference between the patterns produced by *C. albicans* and non-*albicans* species. The primers tested (Table 1) were primer A (Figure 7), B (Figure 8) and C (Figures 9 to 14).



Figure 7 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of PCR amplified products using species-specific PCR primer A. Lanes: 1 – *C. palmioleophila* 4; 2 – *C.inconspicua* 1444; 3 – *C. albicans* 1296; 4 – *C. palmioleophila* 405; 5 – *C. palmioleophila* 377; 6 – *C. palmioleophila* 368; 7 – *C. krusei* 102; 8 – *C. albicans* 299; 9 – *C. albicans* 286.



Figure 8 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of PCR amplified products using species-specific PCR primer B. Lanes: 1 – *C. palmioleophila* 4; 2 – *C. inconspicua* 1444; 3 – *C. albicans* 1296; 4 – *C. palmioleophila* 405; 5 – *C. palmioleophila* 377; 6 – *C. palmioleophila* 368; 7 – *C. krusei* 102; 8 – *C. albicans* 299; 9 – *C. albicans* 286.

Primer C, encoding for the *FKS* gene, was the one that revealed the most range, since results were obtained for a large portion of the collection, and provided the most identifiable differences between *C. albicans, C. palmioleophila, C. inconspicua* and *C. krusei*.



Figure 9 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of PCR amplified products using species-specific PCR primer C. Lanes: 1 – C. albicans 40; 2 – C. albicans 72; 3 – C. glabrata 127; 4 – C. parapsilosis 101; 5 – C. glabrata 2235; 6 – C. albicans 142; 7 – C. albicans 26; 8 – C. albicans 79; 9 – C. albicans 49; 10 – C. albicans 117; 11 – C. albicans 51; 12 – C. albicans 444; 13 – C. albicans 17; 14 – C. albicans 16; 15 – C. albicans 34; 16 – C. albicans 33; 17 – C. albicans 24; 18 – C. albicans 38.



Figure 10 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of PCR amplified products using species-specific PCR primer C. Lanes: 1 – C. albicans 114; 2 – C. inconspicua 1444; 3 – C. palmioleophila 377; 4 – C. albicans 2208; 5 – C. krusei 9; 6 – C. palmioleophila 4; 7 – C. albicans 26; 8 – C. palmioleophila 368; 9 – C. albicans 2029; 10 – C. albicans 286.



Figure 11 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of PCR amplified products using species-specific PCR primer C. Lanes: 1 – C. albicans 472; 2 – C. albicans 2048; 3 – C. glabrata 1104; 4 – C. albicans 185; 5 – C. glabrata 82; 6 – C. glabrata 118; 7 – C. glabrata 81; 8 – C. albicans 109; 9 – C. albicans 2023; 10 – C. albicans 99; 11 – C. albicans 561; 12 – C. albicans 52; 13 – C. krusei 268; 14 – C. albicans 388; 15 – C. albicans 2204; 16 – C. parapsilosis 441; 17 – C. glabrata 468; 18 – C. glabrata 1150.



Figure 12 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of PCR amplified products using species-specific PCR primer C. Lanes: 1 – C. krusei 9; 2 – C. palmioleophila 4; 3 – C. albicans 1296; 4 – C. palmioleophila 405; 5 – C. albicans 1027; 6 – C. albicans 1010; 7 – C. palmioleophila 368; 8 – C. krusei 102; 9 – C. albicans 125.



Figure 13 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of PCR amplified products using species-specific PCR primer C. Lanes: 1 – C. glabrata 260; 2 – C. glabrata 273; 3 – C. glabrata 513; 4 – C. albicans 299; 5 – C. glabrata 316; 6 – C. glabrata 365; 7 – C. albicans 366; 8 – C. palmioleophila 370; 9 – C. glabrata 373; 10 – C. palmioleophila 377; 11 – C. parapsilosis 381; 12 – C. albicans 387.



Figure 14 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of PCR amplified products using species-specific PCR primer C. Lanes: 1 – C. glabrata 276; 2 – C. glabrata 240; 3 – C. albicans 89; 4 – C. albicans 71; 5 – C. albicans 50; 6 – C. albicans 395; 7 – C. glabrata 2181; 8 – C. glabrata 31; 9 – C. albicans 391.

Primer C was designed for the *FKS* gene, a gene that is directly related to echinocandin resistance for *Candida* spp. It is possible that strains with low susceptibility to echinocandins have point mutations on this gene (as described in section 1.3.3). This would be consistent with the fact that the patterns would vary according the existence of these mutations. The MIC values can provide further information if point mutations on the *FKS* gene can be identified through PCR and predict susceptibility.

Unpublished MIC information was used only for consulting and was not included in the previous section 3.1 because they are part of a previously mentioned study by Martyna Mroczyńska and Anna Brillowska-Dąbrowska (2019) (140) (Appendix).

*C. palmioleophila* strains presented a few differences between them. It was possible to obtain discernible patterns for strains 4, 368 and 405. This was not the case for strains 370 and 377. There is a clear difference between these two sets, and it could mean that there is a difference between the *FKS* genes of the strains of the two sets. Given the MIC information, strains 370 and 377 have the lowest MIC values of all *C. palmioleophila* isolates, much lower than strain 4, 368 and 405 (Table 5).

Regarding *C. albicans* patterns, the most common and distinguishable pattern is shown for 20 strains. Other patterns associated with this species included: many bands (11 strains) and only one band (3 strains). Other patterns/no pattern at all were also verified (6 strains). Table 6 displays the different *C. albicans* strains and correspondent patterns. When compared to the results from section 3.1 there was no clear relation between susceptibility and patterns. When it comes to the common band pattern, MICs range between 0.008 – 0.25 mg/L for AND, 0.016 –

0.25 mg/L for CSP and 0.016 – 0.063 mg/L for MCF. For the many bands pattern, MICs range between 0.008 – 1 mg/L for AND, 0.016 - 4 mg/L for CSP and 0.008 - 1 mg/L for MCF. For the only one band pattern, MICs range between 0.008 - 0.031 mg/L for AND, 0.008 - 0.250 mg/L for CSP and are all 0.016 mg/L for MCF. Finally, for other patterns, MICs range between 0.008 - 0.063 mg/L for AND, 0.008 - 0.125 mg/L for CSP and 0.008 - 0.063 mg/L for AND, 0.008 - 0.125 mg/L for CSP and 0.008 - 0.063 mg/L for MCF. The ranges presented include unpublished results. It is interesting to notice that the only two resistant strains from this species, 388 and 391 (unpublished results), both presented a lot more bands than the common pattern.

Species	Pattern	Strains			
	Common	16, 17, 24, 26, 33, 34, 38, 49, 51, 52, 72, 79, 117, 142,			
	Common	286, 444, 472, 561, 2023, 2048			
		50, 99, 109, 125, 185, 388, 391, 395, 1010, 1027, 1296,			
C. albicans	Many Danus	2029			
	One band	40, 299, 2204			
	Others	71, 89, 114, 366, 387, 2208			

Table 6 – Types of patterns obtained for different strains of *C. albicans* following PCR fingerprinting with primer C.

Regarding *C. krusei*, patterns for strain 9 and 268 are similar but strain 102 presents some identifiable differences. Strains 9 and 268 have a pattern with individual and spaced bands while strain 102 displays more bands and more compressed. These differences may relate to susceptibility given that strain 102 is resistant to all three echinocandins (Table 5) and strains 9 and 268 are resistant to only CSP (unpublished results).

For *C. inconspicua* 1444 the result of genotyping did not present a distinctive characteristic pattern when compared to *C. albicans* strains, in fact the pattern presented is similar to *C. albicans* common pattern. This can have implications such as, the strain has been misidentified as *C. inconspicua* or *C. albicans* and *C. inconspicua* are phylogenetically close. It is not possible though to take conclusions from this given that only one strain was analysed. Also *C. glabrata* and *C. parapsilosis*, unfortunately, did not display a common pattern or any perceivable relation between the MIC values of the strains and the obtained patterns. This does not mean that there can't be a relation between them, to verify it a bigger sample would be needed. There were 18 *C. glabrata* and 3 *C. parapsilosis* isolates tested, which not a representative sample of these species.

The PCR profiles obtained were informative and generated clear and distinct patterns for most of the *Candida* spp. Major discriminatory bands were identified for *C. palmioleophila* and *C.krusei*.

Some of the isolates did not show any PCR product at all. This could be connected to reasons like an unsuccessful DNA isolation, contamination of the colonies, contamination of the PCR mixture/product, or the amount of DNA sample/primer used.

#### 3.2.2. Discriminatory band sequencing

After visual analysis the of gels it was decided to proceed with sequencing of the bands marked in Figure 15. Two bands from *C. palmioleophila* 4 and 368 and *C. krusei* 9 and 102 were chosen to proceed with cloning and sequencing. For *C. inconspicua* 1444 one band was also selected, even given the fact that its pattern did didn't seem to be any different than the *C. albicans* most common pattern. It was, although, decided, since this is a rare yeast, to sequence a very discernible band that was displayed in order to try to get possible novel information.



Figure 15 – Boxed bands in red represent the genes of interest chosen that were used in the cloning process from Figures 10 and 12. Lanes: 1 - C. *krusei* 9 and interest bands A and B; 2 - C. *palmioleophila* 4 and interest bands A and B; 3 - C. *palmioleophila* 368 and interest bands A and B; 4 - C. *krusei* 102 and interest bands A and B; 5 - C. *inconspicua* 1444 and interest band A.

The blue/white colony screening revealed white colonies for all the selected bands. Before sending the final product for sequencing a preliminary test was made. Using the plasmids with the insert and the plasmid without the insert electrophoresis was performed. The goal of this test was to determinate if, when compared to the plasmid without the insert, the plasmids with the insert were bigger, meaning they probably contained the gene of interest.



Figure 16 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of plasmid products from cloning. Lanes: 1 – Plasmid without insert; 2 to 6 – Plasmid with *C. palmioleophila* 4 insert for band A; 7 to 9 – Plasmid with *C. palmioleophila* 4 insert for band B; 10 and 11 – Plasmid with *C. krusei* 9 insert for band A; 12 to 16 – Plasmid with *C. krusei* 102 insert for band A; 17 and 18 –Plasmid

with *C. palmioleophila* 368 insert for band B; The red line marks the weight of the plasmid without the insert. The plasmids with insert with weight superior to the plasmid without the insert were boxed in red.



Figure 17 – Agarose gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose) of plasmid products from cloning. Lanes: 1 – Plasmid without insert; 2 to 3 – Plasmid with *C. palmioleophila* 368 insert for band A; 4 to 7 – Plasmid with *C. palmioleophila* 368 insert for band B; 8 to 12 – Plasmid with *C. krusei* 102 insert for band B; 13 to 19 – Plasmid with *C. inconspicua* 1444 insert for band A; 20 –Plasmid without insert; The red line marks the weight of the plasmid without the insert. The plasmids with insert with weight superior to the plasmid without the insert were boxed in red.

From the 38 plasmids obtained by cloning only 7 were sent for sequencing, as displayed in Figures 16 and 17. No plasmid seemed to have acquired the inserts from C. krusei 102. The 7 selected plasmids contained the gene of interest from C. palmioleophila 4 (A) and 368 (B), C. krusei 9 (A) and C. inconspicua 1444 (A). Unfortunately, the sequencing results did not identify any novel or known genes because most of the sequencing results did not have discernible sequences or the sequences belonged to the plasmid, revealing that cloning was not successful. Several factors may have affected the efficiency of the cloning process. At the PCR level, since the gene inserts were unknown, they might have contained repeated sequences resulting in a mixture of many different amplicons which lead to improper annealing during successive rounds of PCR (150). Another limitation might have been that the primers used for PCR could have annealed non-specifically to sequences that were similar, but not completely identical to target DNA. In addition, incorrect nucleotides could have been incorporated into the PCR sequence by the DNA polymerase, although at a very low rate. Because PCR is a highly sensitive technique, any form of contamination of the sample by even trace amounts of DNA could have produced misleading results (151). Exposure of DNA to UV radiation in standard preparative agarose gel electrophoresis procedure for as little as 1 min can damage the DNA, and this could have significantly reduced the transformation efficiency (152). The method of preparation of competent cells, the length of time of heat shock, temperature of heat shock, incubation time after heat shock, growth medium used, and various additives, all could have affected the transformation efficiency of the cells (153). Plasmid characteristics might have also contributed such as plasmid size and form – a study done in E. coli found that transformation efficiency declines linearly with increasing plasmid size, this means that larger plasmids transform less well than smaller plasmids; supercoiled plasmids also have a slightly better transformation efficiency than relaxed plasmids (154). The screening of colonies might have also been an important factor at play. Some white colonies may not have contained the desired recombinant vector for several reasons. The ligated DNA could not have been the correct one, and it is possible for some linearized vector to be transformed, its ends repaired and ligated together such that no lacZ $\alpha$  is produced and no blue colonies may be formed. A colony with no vector at all will also appear white and may sometimes appear as satellite colonies after the antibiotic used has been depleted. It is also possible that blue colonies may have contained the insert. This occurs when the insert is in frame with the  $lacZ\alpha$  gene and a STOP codon is absent in the insert. This can lead to the expression of a fusion protein that is still functional as  $lacZ\alpha$  (155).

# 3.3. Expression level analysis for CHS1, PST1, CWP1 and CWP2 genes

The real time RT-qPCR was performed for genes *CHS1*, *PST1*, *CWP1* and *CWP2* to check their expression levels on 8 *Candida* spp. isolates (4 *C. albicans*, 1 *C. krusei*, 3 *C. palmioleophila*). The obtained  $C_T$  values for the reference gene are shown in Table 7. The results for  $C_T$  values and respective expression level ( $log_2(R)$ ) by application of Livak's method are displayed for genes *CHS1*, *PST1*, *CWP1* and *CWP2* in Tables 8, 9, 10 and 11 respectively.

Table 7 – *ACT1* gene expression. C<sub>T</sub> average values and respective standard deviation for *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368, 370; *C. krusei* 102; and *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023, 2029.

ACT1					
Species	C <sub>T</sub> average				
C. albicans 395	33.5±0.511				
C. albicans 1010	25.0±0.422				
C. albicans 2023	26.0±0.357				
C. albicans 2029	29.2±0.107				
C. krusei 102	34.7±0.893				
C. palmioleophila 4	31.6±1.60				
C. palmioleophila 368	16.9±0.184				
C. palmioleophila 370	21.0±0.586				

Table 8 – *CHS1* gene expression using *C. albicans* 2023 as a calibrator. Livak's method parameters:  $C_T$  average values and respective standard deviation;  $\Delta C_T$  reference values;  $\Delta C_T$  calibrator values;  $\Delta \Delta C_T$  values; R values;  $\log_2(R)$  values that translate in expression level, for *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368, 370; *C. krusei* 102; and *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023, 2029.

		CHS1				
Species	C <sub>T</sub> average	<b>ΔC</b> <sup>T</sup> reference	$\Delta C_T$ calibrator	ΔΔCτ	R	log <sub>2</sub> (R)
C. albicans 395	26.4±0.537	-7.09	-3.56	-3.53	11.6	3.53
C. albicans 1010	27.8±2.25	2.78	-2.15	4.93	3.29E-02	-4.93
C. albicans 2023	29.9±0.512	3.92	0.00	3.92	6.61E-02	-3.92
C. albicans 2029	24.2±0.236	-4.98	-5.73	0.753	0.593	-0.753
C. krusei 102	27.0±0.485	-7.68	-2.94	-4.74	26.7	4.74
C. palmioleophila 4	32.5±0.804	0.893	2.58	-1.68	3.21	1.68
C. palmioleophila 368	21.8±0.107	4.87	-8.18	13.1	1.18E-04	-13.1
C. palmioleophila 370	28.4±0.559	7.42	-1.53	8.94	2.03E-03	-8.94

		PST1				
Species	C <sub>T</sub> average	$\Delta C_T$ reference	$\Delta C_T$ calibrator	ΔΔCτ	R	log <sub>2</sub> (R)
C. albicans 395	32.5±3.70	-5.55	-2.66	-2.89	7.40	2.89
C. albicans 1010	30.0±0.668	4.98	-0.59	5.57	2.11E-02	-5.57
C. albicans 2023	32.5±1.14	4.56	0.00	4.56	4.23E-02	-4.56
C. albicans 2029	26.3±0.0778	-2.84	-4.24	1.40	0.380	-1.40
C. krusei 102	35.9±0.622	1.24	5.34	-4.10	17.1	4.10
C. palmioleophila 4	34.9±0.746	3.32	4.36	-1.04	2.06	1.04
C. palmioleophila 368	24.3±0.199	7.44	-6.25	13.7	7.55E-05	-13.7
C. palmioleophila 370	27.6±0.587	6.64	-2.95	9.59	1.30E-03	-9.59

Table 9 – *PST1* gene expression using *C. albicans* 2023 as a calibrator. Livak's method parameters:  $C_T$  average values and respective standard deviation;  $\Delta C_T$  reference values;  $\Delta C_T$  calibrator values;  $\Delta \Delta C_T$  values; R values;  $\log_2(R)$  values that translate in expression level, for *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368, 370; *C. krusei* 102; and *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023, 2029.

Table 10 – *CWP1* gene expression using *C. albicans* 2023 as a calibrator. Livak's method parameters:  $C_T$  average values and respective standard deviation;  $\Delta C_T$  reference values;  $\Delta C_T$  calibrator values;  $\Delta \Delta C_T$  values; R values;  $\log_2(R)$  values that translate in expression level, for *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368, 370; *C. krusei* 102; and *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023, 2029.

CWP1						
Species	C <sub>T</sub> average	$\Delta C_T$ reference	$\Delta C_T$ calibrator	ΔΔCτ	R	log <sub>2</sub> (R)
C. albicans 395	31.5±0.177	-1.95	8.25	-10.2	1.17E+03	10.2
C. albicans 1010	24.4±0.739	-0.587	1.15	-1.74	3.34	1.74
C. albicans 2023	23.3±0.229	-2.75	0.00	-2.75	6.71	2.75
C. albicans 2029	23.1±0.393	-6.07	-0.160	-5.91	60.3	5.91
C. krusei 102	31.8±1.27	-2.86	8.55	-11.4	2.71E+03	11.4
C. palmioleophila 4	17.5±0.123	-14.2	-5.81	-8.35	3.26E+02	8.35
C. palmioleophila 368	18.2±0.135	1.31	-5.08	6.38	1.20E-02	-6.38
C. palmioleophila 370	19.1±0.136	-1.93	-4.21	2.28	0.206	-2.28

		CWP2				
Species	C <sub>T</sub> average	$\Delta C_T$ reference	$\Delta C_T$ calibrator	ΔΔCτ	R	log <sub>2</sub> (R)
C. albicans 395	28.8±0.760	-4.68	-4.00E-02	-4.64	25.0	4.64
C. albicans 1010	28.2±0.107	3.19	-0.62	3.81	7.11E-02	-3.81
C. albicans 2023	28.8±0.170	2.81	0.00	2.81	0.143	-2.81
C. albicans 2029	26.6±0.564	-2.60	-2.24	-0.360	1.28	0.360
C. krusei 102	29.4±0.629	-5.30	0.558	-5.85	57.8	5.85
C. palmioleophila 4	32.9±0.805	1.32	4.12	-2.80	6.95	2.80
C. palmioleophila 368	19.9±0.0513	3.01	-8.93	11.9	2.55E-04	-11.9
C. palmioleophila 370	28.1±0.328	7.10	-0.727	7.83	4.39E-03	-7.83

Table 11 - *CWP2* gene expression using *C. albicans* 2023 as a calibrator. Livak's method parameters:  $C_T$  average values and respective standard deviation;  $\Delta C_T$  reference values;  $\Delta C_T$  calibrator values;  $\Delta \Delta C_T$  values; R values;  $\log_2(R)$  values that translate in expression level, for *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368, 370; *C. krusei* 102; and *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023, 2029.

To better visualize the results these were displayed using diagrams of the expression level of each gene and respective species and strains (Figures 18 to 21).



Figure 18 – Expression level of *CHS1* gene regarding 8 isolates: *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023 and 2029 (yellow); *C. krusei* 102 (blue) and *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368 and 370 (green), in relation to a calibrator assigned as *C. albicans* 2023.



Figure 19 – Expression level of *PST1* gene regarding 8 isolates: *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023 and 2029 (yellow); *C. krusei* 102 (blue) and *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368 and 370 (green), in relation to a calibrator assigned as *C. albicans* 2023.



Figure 20 – Expression level of *CWP1* gene regarding 8 isolates: *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023 and 2029 (yellow); *C. krusei* 102 (blue) and *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368 and 370 (green), in relation to a calibrator assigned as *C. albicans* 2023.



Figure 21 – Expression level of *CWP2* gene regarding 8 isolates: *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023 and 2029 (yellow); *C. krusei* 102 (blue) and *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368 and 370 (green), in relation to a calibrator assigned as *C. albicans* 2023.

As stated in section 1.5.1 there is evidence that when there are alterations in the *FKS1* gene, genes *CHS1*, *PST1*, *CWP1* and *CWP2* are upregulated. The goal was to check if this would be the case for the tested isolates. According to the results all genes are upregulated for *C. albicans* 395, *C. krusei* 102 and *C. palmioleophila* 4 and downregulated in *C. palmioleophila* 368 and 370. On the other hand, *CWP1* is also upregulated for *C. albicans* 1010, 2023 and 2029, while *CHS1*, *PST1* and *CWP2* are downregulated.

Other diagrams were used (Figures 22 to 24) to better visualize the relation between MIC values for each echinocandin and respective expression levels for every isolate.





Figure 22 – Plot of relative CHS1, PST1, CWP1 and CWP2 gene expression versus MIC (mg/L) values for AND for C. palmioleophila 4, 368, 370; C. krusei 102; and C. albicans 395, 1010, 2023, 2029 isolates. Gene transcript levels were normalized against ACT1 transcript levels. C. albicans 2023 was used as calibrator.



Figure 23 – Plot of relative *CHS1*, *PST1*, *CWP1* and *CWP2* gene expression versus MIC (mg/L) values for CSP for *C. palmioleophila* 4, 368, 370; *C. krusei* 102; and *C. albicans* 395, 1010, 2023, 2029 isolates. Gene transcript levels were normalized against *ACT1* transcript levels. *C. albicans* 2023 was used as calibrator.



Figure 24 – Plot of relative CHS1, PST1, CWP1 and CWP2 gene expression versus MIC (mg/L) values for MCF for C. palmioleophila 4, 368, 370; C. krusei 102; and C. albicans 395, 1010, 2023, 2029 isolates. Gene transcript levels were normalized against ACT1 transcript levels. C. albicans 2023 was used as calibrator.

*C. palmioleophila* 4 and *C. krusei* 102 have similar and high expression levels for all genes. It means the genes are upregulated in these isolates. This is an interesting comparison given that the MIC values for these two strains are the same (Table 5). *C. krusei* 102 has been considered resistant and even though that there are no breakpoints for *C. palmioleophila* the correspondent MIC value is quite high. Less susceptible strains possibly have, besides point mutations, the *FKS1* gene altered and therefore the tested genes were upregulated. On the other hand, some evidence that might support the fact that these genes are connected to alterations in *FKS1* and that they are connected to the resistance mechanism in *C. palmioleophila* is that for the other two strains, 368 and 370, their MIC values are low compared to strain 4, meaning that strains 368 and 370 have higher susceptibility to echinocandins. The genes are also downregulated in these strains, contrary to strain 4 where they are upregulated.

*C. albicans* 1010 and 2023 share resemblance between their MIC values and expression levels. *CHS1, PST1* and *CWP2* show low expression levels and *CWP1* high expression levels. For *C. albicans* 2029 though, *CWP2* also shows high expression levels. *C. albicans* 395, has all genes with high expression levels. It seems that there is not a consensus between the *C. albicans* strains and their level of gene expression. The MIC values of the 4 *C. albicans* isolates are the same for AND. For CSP, strain 2023 is the only strain presenting a lower MIC value and for MCF the MIC value for strain 395 is lower than the others. All the strains, as mentioned before, are classified as susceptible to

echinocandins (Table 5). Given this analysis and the fact that the expression levels for strain 395 are much higher than of the other *C. albicans* strains, it seems that there is not an evident connection between the studied genes and *C. albicans* resistance to echinocandins. It could mean though that the *FKS1* gene is altered in this strain, but it does not present the point mutations that confer resistance to echinocandins. However, since there are no representatives of resistant *C. albicans* strains in this study, it is not possible to draw definite conclusions.

# 4. Conclusions and Perspectives

The results from the AFST showed that frequency of non-*albicans Candida* spp. is increasing and so are their less susceptible strains. The fact that there are still no breakpoints for rare yeasts such as *C. palmioleophila* and *C. inconspicua* does not allow the classification of strains with high MIC levels as resistant. However, the elevated MIC values and previous information from literature suggests that resistance mechanisms have been evolving in these species. *C. krusei* and *C. glabrata* strains were classified as resistant to all three echinocandins. Resistant strains and their mechanisms of resistance for these species have been described before but this is not common for *C. krusei*. In terms of epidemiology in Poland though these results are important and highly informative given that they are the first to describe the emergence of non-*albicans Candida* with low susceptibility to echinocandins in the country.

PCR fingerprinting using the primer encoding the FKS gene, is proposed as a simple, reliable and highly reproducible diagnosis tool that allows to visualize and identify the different species of *Candida*. It is also fast and cost-effective. C. albicans displayed a unique pattern for most of its strains that allowed for a quick visual identification. There were no evident connections between patterns and susceptibility, within the studied sample of isolates but it is worth noting that resistant strains (unpublished results) seemed to fit in within the many band pattern. In the future, it would be interesting to analyse the patterns and ASFT results of a larger collection containing susceptible and resistant strains. Results were particularly interesting for C. palmioleophila. The strains of this species displayed an exclusive pattern with discriminatory bands and the patterns seemed to differ according to the susceptibility of the strains regarding echinocandins. This is important information given that the primer used was designed for the FKS gene. Unfortunately for C. inconspicua it was not possible to find a distinctive pattern since it displayed a pattern similar to the common pattern of C. albicans. Two possibilities are that C. inconspicua was misidentified or this species and C. albicans are phylogenetically close. The expected result was that the pattern would be more like C. krusei given that C. inconspicua is more closely related to this species. C. krusei strains displayed an exclusive pattern with major discriminatory bands. There seems to be a connection between patterns and susceptibility given that the pattern belonging to the resistant strain had a lot more bands than the other two strains resistant to only CSP (unpublished results). This was however a very small sample of this species. More strains should be added in the future to confirm this connection. C. glabrata and C. parapsilosis, unfortunately, did not display an identifiable pattern or any correlation with the ASFT. Once again, the sample and susceptibility range for this species was limited, so in future assays it would be necessary to widen these variables to extract more significant results. In this study it was not possible to conclude the genotyping process and demonstrate if PCR fingerprinting data reflects phylogenetic relationships between a given set of isolates because it was not possible to successfully clone the discriminatory bands.

The results from real time RT-qPCR show that the relation between possible alterations on the *FKS1* gene and the upregulation of *CHS1*, *PST1*, *CWP1* and *CWP2* is verified for *C. palmioleophila* 4 and *C. krusei* 102, two isolates with low echinocandin susceptibility – meaning that the *FKS1* gene is probably altered in these isolates, besides possible point mutations that confer echinocandin resistance. Since there are no breakpoints for *C. palmioleophila* there is

also the possibility though that the levels of expression might relate to stress adaptation responses resulting in high MIC values. It can mean that strains have developed drug tolerance which is nothing less than an intermediate stage for development of resistance and just as worrisome. On the other hand, given the upregulation of the genes in *C. albicans* 395 it is possible that the *FKS1* gene is altered in this isolate. *C. albicans* 395 is classified as susceptible but the levels of expression of all genes match the ones for *C. palmioleophila* 4 and *C. krusei* 9, which means that besides the *FKS1* gene being altered in this isolate there are no point mutations that confer echinocandin resistance. It would be necessary to repeat the study and add a resistant strain of *C. albicans* to reach conclusions regarding this species.

The results of these set of experiments have shown that amongst *Candida* spp., there are important connections between cell wall dynamics and resistance to antifungal drugs. It may not be surprising that such a connection exists, given that most antifungal agents target the fungal membrane or cell wall. It has also shown that *Candida* spp. are developing resistance mechanisms that decrease their susceptibility, creating a higher risk for clinical infections. The impact that these strains may have in the clinical setting is an ever-growing concern. This could be associated with poorer clinical outcomes for patients and breakthrough infections during antifungal treatment and prophylaxis, and increased healthcare costs. This is particularly important when it comes to echinocandins that, as previously mentioned, are currently on the front line of antifungal treatment. Echinocandin resistance among *Candida* spp. is uncommon, except with *C. glabrata* where high level resistance is reported (often associated with azole resistance). The rise in resistant strains against these antifungals is worrisome given the limited treatment options for *Candida* infections. It is important to continue to try to understand how the mechanisms of resistance and the cellular responses to maintain cell wall integrity work in order to develop new strategies to fight these infections.

# 5. References

1. Guarner, Jeannette and Brandt, Mary E. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. *Histopathologic Diagnosis of Fungal Infections in the 21st Century*. April 2011. Vol. 24, 2, pp. 247–280.

2. Bullerman, L. B. Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition. 2 *SPOILAGE | Fungi in Food – An Overview.* 2003. pp. 5511-5522.

3. The University of Adelaide. Mycology Online. Candida.

4. British Society for Immunology. Pathogens and Disease. Candida albicans.

5. Cortés, Jorge Alberto and Corrales, Ivohne Fernanda. Fungal Infection: IntechOpen. *Invasive Candidiasis: Epidemiology and Risk Factors.* 2018.

6. Berkow, Elizabeth L. and Lockhart, Shawn R. Infection and Drug Resistance. *Fluconazole resistance in Candida species: a current perspective.* July 2017. Vol. 10, pp. 237-245.

7. Benedict, Kaitlin, et al. Clinical Infectious Diseases. *Estimation of Direct Healthcare Costs of Fungal Diseases*. 1 June 2019. Vol. 68, 11, pp. 1791-1797.

8. Lass-Flör, Cornelia. Mycoses. *The changing face of epidemiology of invasive fungal disease*. 1 April 2009. Vol. 52, 3.

9. Ha, Jennifer F., et al. Burns. *Candidemia and invasive candidiasis: A review of the literature for the burns surgeon.* March 2011. Vol. 37, 2, pp. 181-195.

10. Yapar, Nur. Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management. *Epidemiology and risk factors for invasive candidiasis*. 13 February 2014. Vol. 10, pp. 95-105.

11. Brown, Gordon D., et al. Science Translational Medicine. *Hidden Killers: Human Fungal Infections*. 19 December 2012. Vol. 4, 165.

12. Calderone, R. A. Emerging Infectious Diseases. *Candida and Candidiasis*. Washington : American Society for Microbiology Press, 2002. Vol. 8, 8.

13. Guinea, Jesús. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. *Global trends in the distribution of Candida species causing candidemia*. June 2014. Vol. 20, pp. 5-10.

14. Pérez-Hansen, Antonio, Lass-Flörl, Cornelia and Lackner, Michaela. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. *Antifungal susceptibility profiles of rare ascomycetous yeasts*. September 2019. Vol. 74, 9, pp. 2649-2656.

15. Nobile, Clarissa J. and Johnson, Alexander D. Annual Review of Microbiology. *Candida albicans Biofilms and Human Disease*. October 2015. Vol. 69, pp. 71-92.

Kumamoto, Carol A. Current Opinion in Microbiology. 6 Candida biofilms. 1 December 2002. Vol. 5, pp. 608-611.
Donlan, Rodney M. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 8 Biofilm Formation: A Clinically Relevant Microbiological Process. 15 October 2001. Vol. 33, pp. 1387-1392.

18. Baylor College of Medicine. Fungi cause brain infection and impair memory in mice. 4 January 2019.

19. Wu, Yifan, et al. Nature Communications. *Microglia and amyloid precursor protein coordinate control of transient Candida cerebritis with memory deficits.* 4 January 2019. Vol. 10, 58.

20. **Pfaller, Michael A., et al.** International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. *Candida bloodstream infections: comparison of species distribution and resistance to echinocandin and azole antifungal agents in Intensive Care Unit (ICU) and non-ICU settings in the SENTRY Antimicrobial Surveillance Program (2008-2009).* July 2011. Vol. 38, 1, pp. 65-69.

21. **Montagna, M. T., et al.** European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences. *Candidemia in intensive care unit: a nationwide prospective observational survey (GISIA-3 study) and review of the European literature from 2000 through 2013.* 2014. Vol. 18, 5, pp. 661-674.

22. Diekema, Daniel J., et al. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease. *The changing epidemiology of healthcare-associated candidemia over three decades.* May 2012. Vol. 73, 1, pp. 45-48.

23. Guinea, Jesús. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. *Global trends in the distribution of Candida species causing candidemia.* June 2014.

24. Chakrabarti, Arunaloke, et al. Intensive Care Medicine. *Incidence, characteristics and outcome of ICU-acquired candidemia in India*. February 2015. Vol. 41, 2, pp. 285-295.

25. **Tan, B.H., et al.** Clinical Microbiology and Infection. *Incidence and species distribution of candidaemia in Asia: a laboratory-based surveillance study.* October 2015. Vol. 21, 10, pp. 946-953.

26. Fidel, Paul L., Vazquez, Jose Antonio and Sobel, Jack D. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. *Candida glabrata: review of epidemiology, pathogenesis, and clinical disease with comparison to C. albicans.* January 1999. Vol. 12, 1, pp. 80-96.

27. Achkar, Jacqueline M. and Fries, Bettina C. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. *Candida infections of the genitourinary tract.* April 2010. Vol. 23, 2, pp. 253-273.

28. Kumar, Kundan, et al. Microorganisms. *Candida glabrata: A Lot More Than Meets the Eye.* 30 January 2019. Vol. 7, 2, p. 39.

29. Vermitsky, John Paul, et al. Molecular Microbiology. *Pdr1 regulates multidrug resistance in Candida glabrata: gene disruption and genome-wide expression studies.* 2006. Vol. 61, 3, pp. 704-722.

30. **Tsai, Huei-Fung, et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Candida glabrata PDR1, a transcriptional regulator of a pleiotropic drug resistance network, mediates azole resistance in clinical isolates and petite mutants.* April 2006. Vol. 50, 4, pp. 1384-1392.

31. Forastiero, A., et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Rapid Development of Candida krusei Echinocandin Resistance during Caspofungin Therapy.* November 2015. Vol. 59, 11, pp. 6975-6982.

32. **Pfaller, Michael A., et al.** Journal of Clinical Microbiology. *Candida krusei, a Multidrug-Resistant Opportunistic Fungal Pathogen: Geographic and Temporal Trends from the ARTEMIS DISK Antifungal Surveillance Program, 2001 to 2005.* February 2008. Vol. 46, 2, pp. 515-521.

33. Gong, Jie, et al. Frontiers in Microbiology. *Genetic Differentiation, Diversity, and Drug Susceptibility of Candida krusei*. November 2018. Vol. 9, pp. 1-10.

34. Trofa, David, Gácser, Attila and Nosanchuk, Joshua D. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. *Candida parapsilosis, an Emerging Fungal Pathogen*. October 2008. Vol. 21, 4, pp. 606-625.

35. **Rincón, Leidy Johanna, Agualimpia, Bayron and Zafra, Germán.** Chemical Engineering Transactions. *Differential Protein Profiles of the Lipolytic Yeast Candida palmioleophila under Different Growth Conditions*. May 2018. Vol. 64, pp. 343-348.

36. Jensen, Rasmus H. and Arendrup, Maiken Cavling. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. *Candida palmioleophila: Characterization of a Previously Overlooked Pathogen and Its Unique Susceptibility Profile in Comparison with Five Related Species.* February 2011. Vol. 49, 2, pp. 549-556.

37. Datta, Nigel, Arendrup, Maiken Cavling and Saunte, Jon Peiter. Acta Ophthalmologica. First report of Candida palmioleophila endogenous endophthalmitis. January 2015. Vol. 93, 6, pp. 517-518.

38. **Rodriguez-Mateus, Z., Pacheco, K. Vera and Zafra, Germán.** Chemical Engineering Transactions. *Molecular detection and characterization of novel lipase genes of the lipolytic yeast Candida palmioleophila.* May 2018. Vol. 64, pp. 349-354.

39. Agualimpia, Bayron, Otero, José Vicente and Zafra, Germán. Biotecnología Aplicada. *Evaluation of native microorganisms for biodegradation of oil and grease in palm oil refinery effluents.* 2016. Vol. 33, 1, pp. 1221-1226.

40. Jafari, Narjes, Kasra-Kermanshahi, Rouha and Soudi, Mohammad Reaz. Iranian Journal of Microbiology. *Screening, identification and optimization of a yeast strain, Candida palmioleophila JKS4, capable of azo dye decolorization.* December 2013. Vol. 5, 4, pp. 434-440.

41. **Baily, Guy G., et al.** Clinical Infectious Diseases. *Candida inconspicua, a fluconazole-resistant pathogen in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus.* July 1997. Vol. 25, 1, pp. 161-163.

42. **Sugita, Takashi, et al.** Microbiology and Immunology. *Fluconazole-Resistant Pathogens Candida inconspicua and Candida norvegensis: DNA Sequence Diversity of the rRNA Intergenic Spacer Region, Antifungal Drug Susceptibility, and Extracellular Enzyme Production.* 2004. Vol. 48, 10, pp. 761–766.

43. **Guitard, J., et al.** Journal of Clinical Microbiology. *Candida inconspicua and Candida norvegensis: New Insights into Identification in Relation to Sexual Reproduction and Genome Organization*. March 2015. Vol. 53, 5.

44. **Majoros, L., et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Caspofungin Susceptibility Testing of Candida inconspicua: Correlation of Different Methods with the Minimal Fungicidal Concentration.* September 2005. Vol. 49, 8, pp. 3486-3488.

45. Axner-Elings, Marlene, et al. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. *Echinocandin Susceptibility Testing of Candida Isolates Collected during a 1-Year Period in Sweden*. May 2011. Vol. 49, 7, pp. 2516-2521.

46. Diezmann, Stephanie, et al. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. *Phylogeny and Evolution of Medical Species of Candida and Related Taxa: a Multigenic Analysis.* January 2005. Vol. 42, 12, pp. 5624-5635.

47. Ashbee, H.R. and Gilleece, M.H. Handbook of Pharmacogenomics and Stratified Medicine. *Chapter 38: Pharmacogenomics of Antifungal Agents.* 2014. pp. 879-900.

48. Park, No-Hee, et al. Pharmacology and Therapeutics for Dentistry. 7 *Chapter 40: Antifungal and Antiviral Agents.* 2007.

49. Vermes, A., Guchelaar, H.J. and Dankert, J. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. *Flucytosine: a review of its pharmacology, clinical indications, pharmacokinetics, toxicity and drug interactions.* 1 August 2000. Vol. 46, 2, pp. 171-179.

50. **Groll, Andreas H., et al.** Advances in Pharmacology. *Clinical Pharmacology of Systemic Antifungal Agents: A Comprehensive Review of Agents in Clinical Use, Current Investigational Compounds, and Putative Targets for Antifungal Drug Development.* 1998.

51. Delavy, Margot, et al. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology. *Investigating Antifungal Susceptibility in Candida Species With MALDI-TOF MS-Based Assays.* February 2019. Vol. 9, 19.

52. Dekkers, B. G. J., et al. Drugs & Aging. Invasive Candidiasis in the Elderly: Considerations for Drug Therapy. 2018. Vol. 35, pp. 781–789.

53. **Perlin, David S.** Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. *Mechanisms of echinocandin antifungal drug resistance*. September 2015.

54. **Maubon, Danièle, et al.** Intensive Care Medicine. *Resistance of Candida spp. to antifungal drugs in the ICU: where are we now?* August 2014. Vol. 40, 9, pp. 1241–1255.

55. Aguilar-Zapata, Daniel, Petraitiene, Ruta and Petraitis, Vidmantas. Clinical Infectious Diseases. *Echinocandins: The Expanding Antifungal Armamentarium.* December 2015. Vol. 61, 6, pp. 604-611.

56. **Scorzoni, Liliana, et al.** Frontiers in Microbiology. *Antifungal Therapy: New Advances in the Understanding and Treatment of Mycosis*. January 2017. Vol. 8, 36.

57. White, Theodore C., Marr, Kieren A and Bowden, Raleigh A. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. *Clinical, cellular, and molecular factors that contribute to antifungal drug resistance*. April 1998. Vol. 11, 2, pp. 382–402.

58. **Ben-Ami, Ronen, Lewis, Russell E and Kontoyiannis, Dimitrios P.** Clinical Infectious Diseases. *Immunocompromised hosts: immunopharmacology of modern antifungals.* August 2008. Vol. 47, 2, pp. 226-235.

59. **d'Enfert, Christophe.** Current Drug Targets. *Biofilms and their role in the resistance of pathogenic Candida to antifungal agents*. May 2006. Vol. 7, 4, pp. 465-470.

60. Ramage, Gordon, et al. Critical Reviews in Microbiology. *Our current understanding of fungal biofilms*. November 2009. Vol. 35, 4, pp. 340-355.

61. **Bonhomme, Julie and d'Enfert, Christophe.** Current Opinion in Microbiology. *Candida albicans biofilms: building a heterogeneous, drug-tolerant environment*. August 2013. Vol. 16, 4, pp. 398-403.

62. Sanglard, Dominique and Odds, Frank C. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. *Review. Resistance of Candida species to antifungal agents: molecular mechanisms and clinical consequences.* 1 February 2002. Vol. 2, 2, pp. 73-85.

63. **EUCAST DEFINITIVE DOCUMENT E.DEF 7.3.1,** EUCAST antifungal MIC method for yeasts. *EUCAST*. [Online] January 2017.

64. Andrews, Jennifer M. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. *Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations*. July 2001. Vol. 48, 1, pp. 5–16.

65. **AI-Hatmi, Abdullah M. S., et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Comparative Evaluation of Etest, EUCAST, and CLSI Methods for Amphotericin B, Voriconazole, and Posaconazole against Clinically Relevant Fusarium Species.* January 2017. Vol. 61, 1.

66. Rodloff, Arne, et al. Deutsches Ärzteblatt International. *Susceptible, Intermediate, and Resistant – The Intensity of Antibiotic Action.* 2008. Vol. 105, 39, pp. 657-662.

67. Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. Fungal Diseases. Invasive Candidiasis Statistics.

68. **Cannon, Richard David, et al.** Clinical Microbiology Reviews. *Efflux-mediated antifungal drug resistance*. April 2009, Vol. 22, 2, pp. 291–321.

69. **Coste, Alix T., et al.** Eukaryotic Cell. *TAC1, transcriptional activator of CDR genes, is a new transcription factor involved in the regulation of Candida albicans ABC transporters CDR1 and CDR2.* December 2004. Vol. 3, 6, pp. 1639–1652.

70. **Coste, Alix T., et al.** Genetics. A mutation in Tac1p, a transcription factor regulating CDR1 and CDR2, is coupled with loss of heterozygosity at chromosome 5 to mediate antifungal resistance in Candida albicans. April 2006. Vol. 172, 4, pp. 2139–2156.

71. **Torelli, Riccardo, et al.** Molecular Microbiology. *The ATP-binding cassette transporter-encoding gene CgSNQ2 is contributing to the CgPDR1-dependent azole resistance of Candida glabrata.* 2008. Vol. 68, 1, pp. 186-201.

72. Bennett, John E., Izumikawa, Koichi and Marr, Kieren A. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Mechanism of increased fluconazole resistance in Candida glabrata during prophylaxis.* June 2004. Vol. 48, 5, pp. 1773-1777.

73. **Sanglard, Dominique, et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *The ATP binding cassette transporter gene CgCDR1 from Candida glabrata is involved in the resistance of clinical isolates to azole antifungal agents.* November 1999. Vol. 43, 11, pp. 2753–2765.

74. Lamping, Erwin, et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Abc1p is a multidrug efflux transporter that tips the balance in favor of innate azole resistance in Candida krusei*. February 2009. Vol. 53, 2, pp. 354–369.

75. Katiyar, S. K. and Edlind, Thomas D. Medical Mycology. *Identification and expression of multidrug resistance*related ABC transporter genes in Candida krusei. January 2001. Vol. 39, 1, pp. 109–116.

76. Moran, Gary P., et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Identification and expression of multidrug transporters responsible for fluconazole resistance in Candida dubliniensis.* July 1998. Vol. 42, 7, pp. 1819–1830.

77. Vandeputte, Patrick, Ferrari, Sélène and Coste, Alix T. International Journal of Microbiology. *Antifungal resistance and new strategies to control fungal infections*. January 2012. Vol. 2012, 3.

78. Vermitsky, John-Paul and Edlind, Thomas D. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Azole resistance in Candida glabrata: coordinate upregulation of multidrug transporters and evidence for a Pdr1-like transcription factor.* October 2004. Vol. 48, 10, pp. 3773–3781.

79. Vermitsky, John-Paul, et al. Molecular Microbiology. *Pdr1 regulates multidrug resistance in Candida glabrata: gene disruption and genome-wide expression studies.* August 2006. Vol. 61, 3, pp. 704-722.

80. **Tsai, Huei-Fung, et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Candida glabrata PDR1, a transcriptional regulator of a pleiotropic drug resistance network, mediates azole resistance in clinical isolates and petite mutants.* April 2006. Vol. 50, 4, pp. 1384–1392.

81. Martel, Claire M., et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Identification and characterization of four azole-resistant erg3 mutants of Candida albicans*. November 2010. Vol. 54, 11, pp. 4527–4533.

82. **Miyazaki, Yoshitsugu, et al.** Gene. *Cloning, sequencing, expression and allelic sequence diversity of ERG3 (C-5 sterol desaturase gene) in Candida albicans.* 5 August 1999. Vol. 236, 1, pp. 43-51.

83. **Espinel-Ingroff, Ana.** Revista Iberoamericana de Micologia. *Mechanisms of resistance to antifungal agents: yeasts and filamentous fungi.* June 2008. Vol. 25, 2, pp. 101-106.

84. **Vandeputte**, **Patrick**, **et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Reduced susceptibility to polyenes associated with a missense mutation in the ERG6 gene in a clinical isolate of Candida glabrata with pseudohyphal growth*. March 2007. Vol. 51, 3, pp. 982–990.

85. Kelly, S. L., et al. FEBS Letters. Resistance to fluconazole and cross-resistance to amphotericin B in Candida albicans from AIDS patients caused by defective sterol  $\Delta$ 5,6-desaturation. January 1997. Vol. 400, 1, pp. 80-82.

86. **Pemán, Javier, Cantón, Emilia and Espinel-Ingroff, Ana.** Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy. *Antifungal drug resistance mechanisms*. May 2009. Vol. 7, 4, pp. 453-460.

87. **Chapeland-Leclerc, Florence, et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Inactivation of the FCY2 gene encoding purine-cytosine permease promotes cross-resistance to flucytosine and fluconazole in Candida lusitaniae.* August 2005. Vol. 49, 8, pp. 3101-3108.

88. Vandeputte, Patrick, et al. Mycopathologia. *Molecular mechanisms of resistance to 5-fluorocytosine in laboratory mutants of Candida glabrata*. January 2011. Vol. 171, 1, pp. 11-21.

89. Waller, Derek G. and Sampson, Anthony P. Chapter 51: Chemotherapy of infections. 5 *Medical Pharmacology* and *Therapeutics*. 2018. pp. 581-629.

90. Park, Steven Y., Kelly, Rosemarie et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Specific Substitutions in the Echinocandin Target Fks1p Account for Reduced Susceptibility of Rare Laboratory and Clinical Candida sp. Isolates.* August 2005. Vol. 49, 8, pp. 3264-3273.

91. **Castanheira, Mariana, et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Low Prevalence of fks1 Hot Spot 1 Mutations in a Worldwide Collection of Candida Strains.* April 2010. Vol. 54, 6, pp. 2655-2659.

92. Alexander, Barbara D., et al. Clinical Infectious Diseases. *Increasing echinocandin resistance in Candida glabrata: clinical failure correlates with presence of FKS mutations and elevated minimum inhibitory concentrations.* March 2013. Vol. 56, 12, pp. 1724-1732.

93. **Pfaller, Michael A., et al.** Journal of Clinical Microbiology. *Frequency of decreased susceptibility and resistance to echinocandins among fluconazole-resistant bloodstream isolates of Candida glabrata.* January 2012. Vol. 50, 4, pp. 1199-1203.

94. Pham, Cau D., et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Role of FKS mutations in Candida glabrata: MIC values, echinocandin resistance, and multidrug resistance.* August 2014. Vol. 58, 8, pp. 4690 – 4696.

95. Bachmann, Stefano P., et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. Antifungal combinations against Candida albicans biofilms in vitro. November 2003. Vol. 47, 11, pp. 3657–3659.

96. Niimi, Kyoko, et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. Overexpression of Candida albicans CDR1, CDR2, or MDR1 does not produce significant changes in echinocandin susceptibility. April 2006. Vol. 50, 4, pp. 1148–1155.

97. Katiyar, Santosh, Pfaller, Michael A. and Edlind, Thomas. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Candida albicans and Candida glabrata clinical isolates exhibiting reduced echinocandin susceptibility.* September 2006. Vol. 50, 8, pp. 2892-2894.

98. Garcia-Effron, Guillermo, et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Effect of Candida glabrata FKS1 and FKS2 mutations on echinocandin sensitivity and kinetics of 1,3-beta-D-glucan synthase: implication for the existing susceptibility breakpoint.* September 2009. Vol. 53, 9, pp. 3690–3699.

99. Garcia-Effron, Guillermo, et al. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Effect of Candida glabrata FKS1 and FKS2 mutations on echinocandin sensitivity and kinetics of 1,3-beta-D-glucan synthase: implication for the existing susceptibility breakpoint.* September 2009. Vol. 53, 9, pp. 3690–3699.

100. Perlin, David S. Future Microbiology. *Current perspectives on echinocandin class drugs*. April 2011. Vol. 6, 4, pp. 441-457.

101. **Katiyar, Santosh K., et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Fks1 and Fks2 are functionally redundant but differentially regulated in Candida glabrata: implications for echinocandin resistance*. December 2012. Vol. 56, 12, pp. 6304-6309.

102. **Perlin, David S.** Drug Resistance Updates. *Resistance to echinocandin-class antifungal drugs.* June 2007. Vol. 10, 3, pp. 121-130.

103. Walker, Louise A., Gow, Neil A. R. and Munro, Carol A. Fungal Genetics and Biology. *Fungal echinocandin resistance*. 2009. Vol. 47, 2, pp. 117-126.

104. **Munro, Carol A., et al.** Molecular Microbiology. *The PKC, HOG and Ca2+ signalling pathways co-ordinately regulate chitin synthesis in Candida albicans.* April 2007. Vol. 65, 5, pp. 1399-1413.

105. Walker, Louise A., et al. PLoS Pathogens. Stimulation of chitin synthesis rescues Candida albicans from echinocandins. April 2008. Vol. 4, 4.

106. Sharma, Jehoshua, et al. Journal of Fungi. *Linking Cellular Morphogenesis with Antifungal Treatment and Susceptibility in Candida Pathogens.* February 2019. Vol. 5, 1.

107. **LaFayette, Shantelle L., et al.** PLoS Pathogens. *PKC signaling regulates drug resistance of the fungal pathogen Candida albicans via circuitry comprised of Mkc1, calcineurin, and Hsp90*. August 2010. Vol. 6, 8.

108. Dzierzanowska-Fangrat, Katarzyna, et al. Mycoses. *Candidaemia in a Polish tertiary paediatric hospital, 2000 to 2010.* July 2013. Vol. 57, 2.

109. **Trejnowska, Ewa, et al.** The Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases & Medical Microbiology. *Surveillance of Antibiotic Prescribing in Intensive Care Units in Poland.* 2018. Vol. 2018.

110. **Nawrot, Urszula, et al.** Mycoses. *Candidaemia in polish hospitals – a multicentre survey.* September 2013. Vol. 56, 5, pp. 576-581.

111. **Szymankiewicz, Maria and Dancewicz, M.** Medical Mycology. *In vitro activity of voriconazole and caspofungin against Candida spp. strains assessed by Etest method.* 2008. Vol. 15, 1, pp. 13-15.

112. Wieczorek, P., et al. Mikologia Lekarska. In vitro activity of caspofungin against strains of Candida. January 2008. Vol. 15, 3, pp. 135-139.

113. **Kurnatowska, A., et al.** Advances in Medical Sciences. *Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of caspofungin and itraconazole inhibiting growth of Candida strains calculated from the linear regression equation.* June 2012. Vol. 57, 1, pp. 148-151.

114. **Gołaś, Marlena, et al.** Polish Journal of Microbiology. *Trends in antifungal susceptibility of Candida species-one year observation.* 2014. Vol. 63, 2, pp. 217–222.

115. **Szweda, Piotr, et al.** Journal of Medical Microbiology. *Mechanisms of azole resistance among clinical isolates of Candida glabrata in Poland.* March 2015. Vol. 64, 6, pp. 610-619.

116. **Biernasiuk, Anna, et al.** Current Issues in Pharmacy and Medical Sciences. *The activity of micafungin against clinical isolates of non-albicans Candida spp.* March 2015. Vol. 28, 1, pp. 13-16.

117. **Falkow, Stanley.** Journal of Clinical Investigation. *Perspectives Series: Host/Pathogen Interactions: Invasion and Intracellular Sorting of Bacteria: Searching for Bacterial Genes.* July 1997. Vol. 100, 2, pp. 239–243.

118. Walker, Louise A., Gow, Neil A. R. and Munro, Carol A. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Elevated Chitin Content Reduces the Susceptibility of Candida Species to Caspofungin.* January 2013. Vol. 57, 1, pp. 146-154.

119. **Terashima, H., et al.** Molecular and General Genetics. *Up-regulation of genes encoding glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-attached proteins in response to cell wall damage caused by disruption of FKS1 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. 17 June 2000. Vol. 264, 1-2, pp. 64-74.

120. **Popolo, Laura, Gualtieri, Tania and Ragni, Enrico.** Medical Mycology. *The yeast cell-wall salvage pathway.* 2001. Vol. 39, 1, pp. 111-121.

121. **Caro, L. Heleen P., et al.** FEMS Microbiology Letters. *Transcription of multiple cell wall protein-encoding genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is differentially regulated during the cell cycle.* April 1998. Vol. 161, 2, pp. 345–349. 122. **UniProtKB - P23316 (CHS1\_CANAX)**. *UniProt.* [Online]

123. **Munro, Carol A., et al.** Molecular Microbiology. *Chs1 of Candida albicans is an essential chitin synthase required for synthesis of the septum and for cell integrity.* March 2001. Vol. 39, 5, pp. 1414-1426.

124. **Rosa, Luciano Pereira, et al.** Lasers in Medical Science. *In vitro effectiveness of 455-nm blue LED to reduce the load of Staphylococcus aureus and Candida albicans biofilms in compact bone tissue.* January 2016. Vol. 31, 1, pp. 27–32.

125. **Cremer, Kaat De, et al.** Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy. *Combinatorial drug approaches to tackle Candida albicans biofilms*. June 2015. Vol. 13, 8, pp. 1-12.

126. Hsu, Pang-Hung, et al. PLoS ONE. Characterization of Cell Wall Proteins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae Clinical Isolates Elucidates Hsp150p in Virulence. August 2015 2015. Vol. 10, 8.

127. Jung, Un Sung and Levin, David. Molecular Microbiology. *Genome-wide analysis of gene expression regulated by the yeast cell wall integrity signalling pathway.* January 2000. Vol. 34, 5, pp. 1049-1057.

128. **Monteoliva, L., et al.** Eukaryotic Cell. *Large-Scale Identification of Putative Exported Proteins in Candida albicans by Genetic Selection.* August 2002. Vol. 1, 4, pp. 514-525.

129. Nather, Kerstin and Munro, Carol A. FEMS Microbiology Letters. *Generating cell surface diversity in Candida albicans and other fungal pathogens.* August 2008. Vol. 285, 2, pp. 137-145.

130. **Dielbandhoesing, S. K., Zhang, Hui, et al.** Applied and Environmental Microbiology. *Specific cell wall proteins confer resistance to nisin upon yeast cells*. October 1998. Vol. 64, 10, pp. 4047–4052.

131. Navarro-García, F., et al. Medical Mycology. *Signal transduction pathways and cell-wall construction in Candida albicans*. 2001. Vol. 39, 1, pp. 87-100.

132. Clinical Pharmacy Education, Practice and Research. Genotyping. *Science Direct.* [Online] 2019. [Cited: 2 September 2019.]

133. Dorak, M. Tevfik. Genotyping with PCR. How to choose the right approach. s.l. : The Scientist, 2007.

134. Meyer, W., Maszewska, K. and Sorrell, T. C. Medical Mycology. *PCR fingerprinting: a convenient molecular tool to distinguish between Candida dubliniensis and Candida albicans.* May 2001. Vol. 39, 2, pp. 185-193.

135. Brillowska-Dąbrowska, Anna, Saunte, Ditte Marie and Arendrup, Maiken Cavling. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. *Five-Hour Diagnosis of Dermatophyte Nail Infections with Specific Detection of Trichophyton rubrum*. April 2007. Vol. 45, 4, pp. 1200–1204.

136. Wagner, Elke M. Methods in Molecular Biology. *Monitoring Gene Expression: Quantitative Real-Time RT-PCR.* 2013. Vol. 1027, pp. 19-45.

137. Arya, Manit, et al. Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics. *Basic principles of real-time quantitative PCR*. April 2005. Vol. 5, 2, pp. 209-219.

138. Livak, Kenneth J. and Schmittgenb, Thomas D. Methods. Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. December 2001. Vol. 25, 4, pp. 402-408.

139. Kassim, Ali, et al. Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials. *Comparison of Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute and European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing guidelines for the interpretation of antibiotic susceptibility at a University teaching hospital in Nairobi, Kenya.* April 2016. Vol. 15, 21.

140. Mroczyńska, Martyna and Brillowska-Dąbrowska, Anna. Acta Biochimica Polonica. First report on echinocandin resistant Polish Candida isolates. September 2019. Vol. 66, 3, pp. 361-364.

141. **Montagna, Maria Teresa, et al.** BMC Microbiology. *Susceptibility to echinocandins of Candida spp. strains isolated in Italy assessed by European Committee for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing and Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute broth microdilution methods.* 2015. Vol. 15, 1.

142. Dannaoui, Eric, et al. Emerging Infectious Diseases. *Candida spp. with acquired echinocandin resistance, France, 2004-2010.* January 2012. Vol. 18, 1, pp. 86-90.

143. **Castanheira, Mariana, et al.** Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. *Low prevalence of fks1 hot spot 1 mutations in a worldwide collection of Candida strains.* April 2010. Vol. 54, 6, pp. 2655-2659.

144. **Tavernier, E., et al.** Bone Marrow Transplantation. *Development of echinocandin resistance in Candida krusei isolates following exposure to micafungin and caspofungin in a BM transplant unit.* 2015. Vol. 50, pp. 158–160.

145. **Prigitano, Anna, et al.** The New Microbiologica: Official Journal of the Italian Society for Medical Virology. *Acquired echinocandin resistance in a Candida krusei blood isolate confirmed by mutations in the fks1 gene.* May 2014. Vol. 37, 2, pp. 237-240.

146. **Ostrosky-Zeichner, Luis.** Clinical Infectious Diseases. *Candida glabrata and FKS mutations: witnessing the emergence of the true multidrug-resistant Candida*. 2013. Vol. 56, 12, pp. 1733-1734.

147. **Perlin, David S., Rautemaa-Richardson, Riina and Izquierdo, Ana Alastruey.** The Lancet Infectious Diseases. *The global problem of antifungal resistance: prevalence, mechanisms, and management.* December 2017. Vol. 17, 12, pp. 383-392.

148. Farmakiotis, Dimitrios, Tarrand, Jeffrey J. and Kontoyiannis, Dimitrios P. Emerging Infectious Diseases. *Drug-resistant Candida glabrata infection in cancer patients*. November 2014. Vol. 20, 11, pp. 1833-1840.

149. Alexander, Barbara D., et al. Clinical Infectious Diseases. *Increasing echinocandin resistance in Candida glabrata: clinical failure correlates with presence of FKS mutations and elevated minimum inhibitory concentrations.* June 2013. Vol. 56, 12, pp. 1724–1732.

150. Clarke, L. A., et al. Molecular Pathology. *PCR amplification introduces errors into mononucleotide and dinucleotide repeat sequences*. 2001. Vol. 54, 5, pp. 351-353.

151. Garibyan, Lilit and Avashia, Nidhi. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. *Research Techniques Made Simple: Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR).* 2013. Vol. 133, 3.

152. Mäueler, Winfried, et al. Electrophoresis. *Altered electrophoretic behavior of DNA due to short-time UV-B irradiation*. 1994. Vol. 15, 12, pp. 1499-1505.

153. Ymer, Sanie. Nucleic Acids Research. *Heat inactivation of DNA ligase prior to electroporation increases transformation efficiency.* 1991. Vol. 19, 24.

154. Hanahan, Douglas. Journal of Molecular Biology. *Studies on the transformation of Escherichia coli with plasmids.* 1983. Vol. 166, 4, pp. 557-580.

155. Sigma Aldrich. Blue-White Screening & Protocols for Colony Selection. Sigma Aldrich. [Online]

156. **Fisher, Matthew C., et al.** Science. *Worldwide emergence of resistance to antifungal drugs challenges human health and food security.* 18 May 2018. Vol. 360, 6390, pp. 739-742.
## 6. Appendix

Number	Species and strains	MIC values (mg/L)	
1.	C. albicans 16;	Unpublished results	
2.	C. albicans 17;	Unpublished results	
3.	C. albicans 24;	Unpublished results	
4.	C. albicans 26;	Table 6	
5.	C. albicans 33;	Unpublished results	
6.	C. albicans 34;	Unpublished results	
7.	C. albicans 38.	Unpublished results	
8.	C. albicans 40;	Table 6	
9.	C. albicans 49;	Table 6	
10.	C. albicans 50;	Unpublished results	
11.	C. albicans 51;	Unpublished results	
12.	C. albicans 52;	Unpublished results	
13.	C. albicans 71;	Unpublished results	
14.	C. albicans 72;	Unpublished results	
15.	C. albicans 79;	Unpublished results	
16.	C. albicans 89;	Unpublished results	
17.	C. albicans 99;	Unpublished results	
18.	C. albicans 109;	Unpublished results	
19.	C. albicans 114;	Table 6	
20.	C. albicans 117;	Unpublished results	
21.	C. albicans 125.	Table 6	

Table 12 – Complete list of isolates tested in section 3.2 and their respective MIC values.

22.	C. albicans 142;	Unpublished results
23.	C. albicans 185;	Table 6
24.	C. albicans 266;	Table 6
25.	C. albicans 286.	Table 6
26.	C. albicans 299;	Table 6
27.	C. albicans 366;	Unpublished results
28.	C. albicans 387.	Table 6
29.	C. albicans 388;	Unpublished results
30.	C. albicans 391.	Unpublished results
31.	C. albicans 395	Table 6
32.	C. albicans 444;	Unpublished results
33.	C. albicans 472;	Unpublished results
34.	C. albicans 561;	Unpublished results
35.	C. albicans 1010;	Table 6
36.	C. albicans 1027;	Unpublished results
37.	C. albicans 1296;	Table 6
38.	C. albicans 2023;	Table 6
39.	C. albicans 2029	Table 6
40.	C. albicans 2048;	Unpublished results
41.	C. albicans 2204;	Unpublished results
42.	C. albicans 2208;	Unpublished results
43.	C. glabrata 31;	Unpublished results
44.	C. glabrata 81;	Unpublished results
45.	C. glabrata 82;	Unpublished results

46.	C. glabrata 118;	Unpublished results
47.	C. glabrata 127;	Unpublished results
48.	C. glabrata 240;	Unpublished results
49.	C. glabrata 260;	Unpublished results
50.	C. glabrata 273;	Unpublished results
51.	C. glabrata 276;	Unpublished results
52.	C. glabrata 316;	Unpublished results
53.	C. glabrata 365;	Unpublished results
54.	C. glabrata 373;	Table 6
55.	C. glabrata 468;	Table 6
56.	C. glabrata 513;	Unpublished results
57.	C. glabrata 1104;	Unpublished results
58.	C. glabrata 1150;	Unpublished results
59.	C. glabrata 2181;	Unpublished results
60.	C. glabrata 2235;	Unpublished results
61.	C. inconspicua 1444;	Table 6
62.	C. krusei 9;	Unpublished results
63.	C. krusei 102;	Table 6
64.	C. krusei 268;	Unpublished results
65.	C. palmioleophila 4;	Table 6
66.	C. palmioleophila 368;	Table 6
67.	C. palmioleophila 370;	Table 6
68.	C. palmioleophila 377;	Table 6
69.	C. palmioleophila 405;	Table 6

.01; Unpublished results
1

<b>71.</b> C. parapsilosis 381; Unpublished resul	71.	Unpul	C. parapsilosis 381;	Unpublished result
---	-----	-------	----------------------	--------------------

72. C. parapsilosis 441; Unpublished results